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Corporate History

1897:  The commencement of official  prospecting and surveying of 
coal deposits in the Hwange District.  

1899:  The Wankie (Rhodesia) Coal, Railway and Exploration 
Company was registered on 22 April with an authorised 
share capital of one million pounds.  

1902:  January saw the main incline shaft or main drift, of what 
became No. 1 Colliery, reaching the coal. 

1903:  First consignment of coal leaving by railway for Bulawayo 
where previously transportation was by ox drawn wagons.

1909:  Wankie (Rhodesia) Coal, Railway and Exploration Company 
Limited is reconstituted as the Wankie Colliery Company 
Limited with annual production of over a quarter of a million 
metric tonnes of coal.

1927:   Opening of No. 2 Colliery Mine (Kamandama shaft). 

1949:  The Government implemented the recommendations of the  
Wankie Coal Commission Report, which confirmed the need 
for additional capital investment into the Company.

1950:  Powell Duffryn Limited takes over Company’s operations 
and initiated an expansion programme.

1953:  The Anglo American Corporation takes over from Powell 
Duffryn Limited and the next 4 years was a time of expansion 
until output met demand of 4 million tonnes in 1957.

 The No.3 underground mine is Commisioned. 

1958:  Wankie Colliery Company Limited under Anglo American 
Corporation is listed in the Rhodesia, Johannesburg and 
London Stock Exchanges.

1958:  Sharp decline in coal sales as a result of the commissioning 
of the Kariba hydro-electric power station.

1961: No 1 Colliery is decommissioned.

1972:  A major disaster struck Wankie Colliery Company when a 
coal-dust explosion swept through No. 2 Colliery killing 427 
miners on 6 June 1972. The shaft was subsequently closed.

1976:  First opencast mining operations were started in response 
to increased demand.
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1976:   No. 4 Colliery is commissioned but was decommissioned in 
1980 owing to the adverse ground conditions.

  
1982:  The JKL Opencast mine operations were commissioned        

and then enabling Wankie to meet increased coal demand  
levels. The Zimbabwe Electricity Supply Authority’s thermal 
power station at Hwange, specifically designed to burn 
Wankie power coal, was commissioned.

 1983:  Government of Zimbabwe acquires 40% of Wankie Colliery 
Company Limited. 

1993:  HCCL acquires stake in ZimChem Refiners (Pvt) Ltd a 
chemical manufacturing Company located in the Midlands 
town of Redcliff.

1994:  Coal production output reaches 6 million tonnes and is the 
highest ever in the history of the Company.

1998: Acquisition of 49% stake in Clay Products (Pvt) Limited.

1999:  Severe   underground conditions leads to the decommissioning 
of No.3 underground mine.

  
2005: Opening of 3 main underground mine. 

2004:  Wankie Colliery Company Limited is rechristened Hwange 
Colliery Company Limited in line with the change in the 
name of the town. 

2005:  Awarded Best Turnaround Award in the Zimbabwe
 Independent Quoted Companies Survey.

2006: Started operations at Chaba Opencast Mine.

2007:  Company commissions joint venture coke oven battery with 
a Chinese investor. Company gets a ISO 9001:2000. Quality 
Management System certiification by Standards Association 
of Zimbabwe.

 
2013:  Commissions mining equipment worth $20 million from 

Bell and Sany.

2014:  Company awards USD 260 million mining contract to Mota 
Engil a Portuguese mining firm.

2014:  Company secures USD 31.2 million credit facilities  to 
capitalise the opencast mine.

2015:  Company secures three new concessions: Western Areas 
(SG 5950), Lubimbi West (SG 4764) and Lubimbi East (SG 
4364).
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CORPORATE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The 2015 Corporate strategic objectives were agreed 
upon as follows:

1.  To achieve SHE excellence by maintaining LTIFR at 
less than 1.5 and LTISR at less than 16 in 2015.

2.  To maintain stakeholder satisfaction by producing 
and processing 5.3 million tonnes of coal in 2015.

3.  To retain 100% of our current customers and increase 
domestic and export market share from 40% to 50% 
and 10% to 15%, respectively in 2015.

4.  To secure a new mining concession in 2015 and 
initiate coal value addition projects.

5.  To implement strategies to achieve a net profit of 
7% and not less than 10c per share earnings for the 
Organisation by the end of the year.

6.  To maintain an efficient management system that 
complies fully with ISO 9001: 2008 standard and also 
adheres to Corporate Governance principles always.

7.  To develop and retain at least 90% critical skills, 
competences and motivation of employees to 
maintain competitiveness at all times.

VISION
We are striving to be the leading regional market 
producer (of coal, energy and related products), 
supplier, partner and employer of choice, through 
best practice in cost, operational efficiencies 
and safety, with zero harm to people and the 
environment.

BHAG*
WE WANT TO BE A WORLD CLASS ENERGY 
PRODUCER WITH AN AFRICAN FOOTPRINT 
DRIVING SUPERIOR OPERATING PERFORMANCES 
THROUGH MAJOR PRODUCTIVITY 
IMPROVEMENTS, DISCIPLINED COST 
MANAGEMENT, OPTIMAL ASSET UTILISATION 
AND ZERO HARM TO PEOPLE AND THE 
ENVIRONMENT.

*BHAG - Big Hairy Audacious Goal

SHARED VALUES
As the Company delivers on its mission, it is guided 
by its core values which are as follows:

   We are professional and embrace change at
  what we do;
 

    We are a cohesive team that consciously chooses 
to win together;

    We are committed to deliver quality products and 
services;

   We are a continuously learning organization; 
 

   We employ the best people and put them first;  
  and
 

   We seek zero harm to people and the    
  environment.

MISSION STATEMENT
We are in the business of mining and processing coal, 
production of coke, coal bed methane gas and related 
by-products.  

 Main Processes
The main processes of coal mining being underground 
and opencast involving pit layout, drilling and blasting, 
dragline stripping and throw-blasting and coal 
processing (coke manufacture and coke oven gas 
supply).

Our Mission and Values



5H w a n g e  C o l l i e r y  C o m p a n y  L i m i t e d  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 5

Company Profile

Incorporation
Hwange Colliery Company Limited “the Company”  
(formerly Wankie Colliery Company Limited) is 
incorporated in the Republic of Zimbabwe and has a 
primary listing on the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange and 
secondary listings on the Johannesburg and London 
Stock Exchanges.
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Business
The Company’s principal activities are exploration, mining 
processing of coal and the production of coke and related 
by-products in the north western part of Zimbabwe, 
Hwange District in the Matabeleland North Province.  
The Company is ISO 9001:2008 certified by the Standards 
Association of Zimbabwe (SAZ).

The Company’s principal operating entity, its subsidiaries 
and operating companies are as incharted above.

HWANGE COLLIERY COMPANY 
(SA) PTY LTD

100%

100%

DORMANT 
SUBSIDIARIES

OPERATING 
ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

HWANGE COAL GASIFICATION 
COMPANY (PRIVATE) LIMITED

25%

CLAY PRODUCTS 
(PRIVATE) LIMITED

49%

ZIMCHEM REFINERIES
(PRIVATE) LIMITED

44%

HWANGE

INTERGRATED ENERGY 
(PRIVATE) LIMITED



6 H w a n g e  C o l l i e r y  C o m p a n y  L i m i t e d  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 5

Our Market Presence

Hwange Colliery Company Limited supplies the 

following markets with high quality Coal and Coke 

products .

Our Products, Markets and 
Business Associations
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COAL 

The Company’s coal products are marketed in 

three (3) broad categories;

	 •		Thermal	Coal			(HPS)

	 •		Industrial	Coal	(HIC)

	 •		Coking	Coal					(HCC)

COKE
Coke is marketed in four (4) distinct categories 
namely; 

	 •		Foundry	coke									(+80mm)
	 •		Metallurgical	coke	(-80	+	20mm)		
	 •		Coke	peas															(-30	+	10mm)
	 •		Coke	breeze											(-10mm)	

BY-PRODUCTS
Some	of	the	by-products	of	coke	include	benzole,	
tar naphthalene and coke oven gas.

Company Products

Hwange Colliery Company Limited is a member 

of the following bodies: 

•	Chamber	of	Mines	Zimbabwe	(COMZ);

•	Confederation	of	Zimbabwe	Industries	(CZI);	

•		Business	Council	on	Sustainable	Development	

in Zimbabwe (BCSDZ); and

•	Marketers	Association	of	Zimbabwe	(MAZ).

Business Associations
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Our Divisionalised Approach

•   J K L Opencast Mining  
operations

•    Chaba Opencast 
Mining operations

• Coke Oven Battery 
• Crushing and Screening  
 Plant
•  Washing Plant 

•   3 Main Undergound  
Mine

•   Administration of the 
  residential and social 

amenities
• Commercial outlets
•  Sports clubs
 

•  Executive Management
•  Human Resources
•  Finance 
•  Company Secretariat
•  Sales and Marketing
•   Information and 

communication
 technology
•  Internal Audit and Loss 

Control
  

•  Six (6) Ward Hospital 
•   Seven (7) Satellite 

Clinics
•  Dental Surgery
•  Retail Pharmacy
• Nursing School

HWANGE

Opencast 
Mining

Underground
Mining

Metallurgical
Operations Estates

Medical Shared Services 
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Highlights of 
Our Performance

     2015 2014 

 Share Performance
 Shares in issue    183 720 699 183 720 699 
 Net asset value per share (cents)    (26) 21 
 Loss per share (USD)    0.63 0.21 
 Return on Shareholders’ funds (percentage)    (0.43) (20)
 Share price at 31 December (cents)    3 5
 Number of Shareholders    4 332 4 332 

 Results
 Turnover (USD)    67 576 220 83 918 846
 Loss after tax (USD)    (115 056 773) (37 865 885) 

 Sales
 Coal tonnes    1 504 400 1 706 798 
 Coke tonnes    53 874 79 708
 
 Financial ratios 
 Issued share capital (USD)    45 962 789 45 962 789
 Total reserves (USD)    (124 374 977) (9 318 204)
 Shareholders’ equity (USD)    (77 834 232) 37 222 541
 Long term liabilities (USD)    29 659 003 800 000
 
 Total	funds	employed	(USD)	 	 	 	 (78	412	188)	 37	022	541
 
 Current assets to current liabilities    0.23:1 0.42:1
 Acid test (current assets (excluding inventories and stripping asset activity) 
 to current liabilities)    0.11:1 0.18:1
 Long and medium term liabilities as a percentage of Shareholders’ equity  (38%) 211%
 
 Number	of	employees	 	 	 	 2	683	 2	614	

SALIENT FEATURES

ZSE Share Price
Performance
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CAPITALISATION INITIATIvES

 The new production configuration and sales plan depends on availability of $7.5 
million working capital. The working capital facility has been structured as a 
prepayment for coal by one of the major customers.
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Chairman’s Statement

INTRODUCTION 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I present  the audited 
financial results for Hwange Colliery Company Limited for 
the year ended 31 December 2015. 

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
The Company endured an operating environment not 
conducive to our business. This necessitated that the 
Company re - engineers its business systems and processes 
in order to preserve its going concern and start to gravitate 
towards sustainable viability.

The operating environment further deteriorated in 2015 
evidenced by downward trend on the major economic 
fundamentals like economic growth, capacity utilisation, 
inflation and market liquidity. 

The economic growth of 2.4% implied limited demand 
opportunities and presented a lacklustre outlook for the 
Company.
 
There has been a notable erosion of commodity prices on 
the global economy and this had a contagion effect on the 
local coal and coke industry. The commodity prices for 
coal and coke declined by an average of 30%. The closure 
of ferrochrome, ferroalloy, copper and cobalt operations 
in the SADC region during the year worsened the market 
perfomance.

Liquidity challenges prevailed in the local money market 
making it difficult for the Company to secure the critically 
required working capital for its operations.

The annual inflation for 2015 at -2.47% was lower than the 
2.9% recorded in 2014 and the impact of this deflation is the 
market push for reduction in the prices of coal and coke.

Although the South African Rand declined materially against 
the United States dollar in 2015, the Company could not 
take full advantage of the opportunities for cost reduction on 
imported spares for the dragline and continuous miner and 
consumables like magnetite because of liquidity challenges. 

Coal demand and off take on the domestic market remained 
the anchor of the business and competitiveness hinged on 
product availability.

Coke export sales to the South African and Northern markets 
were subdued throughout the period under review because 
of the reduced offtake by the traditional metallurgical 
customers who faced viability challenges. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The turnover for the year of USD67.6 million was comparably 
lower than the restated turnover of USD83.9	million achieved 

......the USD7.5 million coal pre-
financing facility structured through 
a major customer and syndicated by 
two (2) local financial institutions will 
give impetus to the new business plan 
and ensure attainment of the monthly 
production targets of 350 000 tonnes per 
month from July 2016 onwards.............

Jemister Chininga
Acting Chairman
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in the previous year. Revenue was affected by low production 
and sales volumes, the stagnant HPS coal prices and the 
decline in the HIC/HCC coal and coke prices for both local 
and export markets. 

The Company incurred a gross loss of USD33.8	 million	
compared to a gross loss of USD9.0	million for the 2014 
financial year. The loss for the year ended 31 December 
2015 was USD115.1 million compared to USD37.9 million 
recorded for the same period in 2014.

The widening of the loss is mainly attributed to the recognition 
of the USD69.1 million Zimbabwe Revenue Authority (ZIMRA) 
liability covering the six (6) year period 2009 to 2015. An 
amount of USD40.6 million had been accrued resulting in an 
adjustment of USD28.5	million after conclusion of the ZIMRA 
verification exercise. The amount was previously disclosed 
as a contingent liability. There was also a 118% increase in 
administrative costs mainly attributable to the adjustment for 
the ZIMRA liability. The Company’s fixed overhead structure 
is being addressed through the adoption of a new business 
model. Company operations have been streamlined and non 
core costs rationalised.

Property, plant and equipment increased from USD129.1 
million to USD136.3 million. The total assets of the Company 
decreased from USD247.8	million as at the previous year to 
USD239.1 million. The Company’s statement of financial 
position was eroded by the accumulated losses and the 
ZIMRA liability.

The Company’s current liabilities amounted to USD287.3	
million compared to USD209.8	million	as at the comparative 
period. Some of the creditors have taken legal action against 
the Company. Efforts have been made to contain the negative 
effect of such action on the business. A debt redemption plan 
and strategy has now been put in place which would result in 
most of the creditors being paid through a debt instrument 
structured through the Central Bank.

Borrowings increased from USD11.9 million to USD51.1 
million mainly as a result of long term loans from Export 
Import Bank of India and RBZ/PTA Bank that financed the 
mining equipment acquisitions. Also included is the ZAMCO 
loan of USD14 million.

PRODUCTION PERFORMANCE
Sales Statistics

Product	 2015	 2014
   (Metric Tonnes) (Metric Tonnes)
HPS coal 887 273 871  632
HCC/HIC coal 503 706  459  325
Coal fines 113  421 375  841
Total	coal	 1	504	400	 1		706		798
Coke (Including breeze)   53 874       79  708
TOTAL  1	558	274	 1		786		496

The Company’s total sales volume decreased by 13%. Total 
coal and coke sales for the year were 1 558 274 tonnes 
compared to 1 786 506 tonnes sold in 2014. Coal production 
volumes were affected by the persistent breakdowns of 
the major mining equipment compounded by inadequate 
working capital to support the operations.

For the period under review, the Company took delivery and 
commissioned mining equipment worth USD18.2 million 
from BELAZ of Belarus through a line of credit structured by 
Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe (RBZ) and PTA Bank. A second 
suite of equipment worth USD13.03 million was acquired and 
commissioned from BEML of India financed by Export Import 
Bank of India. 

HPS coal supplied to Zimbabwe Power Company`s Hwange 
Power Station accounted for 57% of coal produced in 2015 
and contributed 42% of the revenue. A total of 887 273 tonnes 
were supplied to the power station compared to the 871 
632 tonnes delivered the previous year, representing a 2% 
increase in performance.  

The Hwange Coking Coal (HCC) and Hwange Industrial Coal 
(HIC) sales were the major contributors to revenue for the 
year at 45% and yet accounted for 32% of production volumes. 
A deliberate production and sales mix was done to optimise 
this product line. The 503 706 tonnes sold during the year 
was 10% higher than the tonnage achieved the previous year. 

Coal fines sales amounting to 113 421 tonnes constituted 7% 
of sales volume and accounted for 5% of revenue. 

Coke sales, including breeze, amounted to 53 874 tonnes 
and were below the 79 806 tonnes sold the previous year. The 
bulk of the coke sales were to South Africa and Zambia.

DIVIDEND
In light of the financial performance of the Company, the 
Board has resolved not to consider declaration of a dividend.

QUALITY,	SAFETY,	HEALTH	AND	ENVIRONMENT
The Company went through routine QMS internal audits to 
ensure processes, procedures and standards are followed. 
The ISO 9001:2008 Quality Management System 
re-certification audit by Standards Association of Zimbabwe 
(SAZ) was done in February 2016.

The Company’s safety programmes are sound and enable 
the Company to achieve a safeworking environment. 

Rehabilitation of the mined out areas at the opencast mines 
is still in abeyance but adequate provision is being done in 
the financial statements. The Company had no new incident 
of acid mine drainage pollution into the environment. There 
were no reported incidents of pollution of public streams 
adjacent to the concession area. 

Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)



12 H w a n g e  C o l l i e r y  C o m p a n y  L i m i t e d  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 5

The Company’s divisionalised health delivery system and 
public health programmes effectively prevented adverse 
diseases like malaria, cholera and typhoid. The opportunistic 
infections outreach programme and awareness campaigns 
were used to manage the HIV and AIDS pandemic.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Despite the challenges facing the Company, it has not 
reneged on its corporate social responsibility programmes 
though now being done on a reduced scale.

For the year under review, the Company managed to assist 
in the construction of Nkayi Vocational Training College for 
the youths. Donations were made to the schools feeding 
programmes and drought relief initiatives in the Hwange 
District. The Company funded the provincial educational 
merit awards and was involved in a number of sporting and 
recreational activities.

The Company’s municipal responsibilities of housing, social 
amenities and schooling fall under the Estates and Medical 
divisions. The main thrust was self sustainability driven by 
infrastructure sharing with other mining companies in the 
Hwange area.

The apprenticeship training, nurses training and graduate 
learnership programme remained but are being reviewed 
for possible transfer to the Ministries of Higher and Tertiary 
Education, and Health and Child Welfare respectively.

STRATEGIC THRUST
The Board of Directors’ strategy to immediately start turning 
around the fortunes of the Company is premised on the 
following pillars:

Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)

• Divisionalisation into strategic business units;
• Recapitalisation of the mining operations;
• Contract mining;
•  Balance sheet restructuring through debt to equity 

conversion of the ZIMRA liability;
• Customer diversification and focus on key markets; and
•  Development of new coal concessions and extension of 

life of mine.

  To complement the long term turnaround plan, the 
following short term actions are being implemented:

•  Production reconfiguration for effective cost 
management, enhancing efficiency levels and volume 
growth

  The Company’s own production has been below target 
mainly due to the working capital challenges which 
resulted in low plant and machinery availability.

  Given the high prevalence of water at JKL and the 
undulating nature of the coal seam, the Company 
relocated its open cast operations to Chaba. Mine 
development at the Chaba pit will be done in March until 
May 2016. Own production at Chaba pit will comence in 
June 2016 at 150 000 tonnes per month. Total opencast 
production, inclusive of the contractor, shall reach a 
minimum of 300 000 tonnes per month.

  3 Main Underground operations require capital injection 
of approximately USD6,3 million for the refurbishment 
of  the continuous miner, shuttle cars, replace roof bolter 
and other related new equipment supply. Production is 
planned to resume in September 2016. The resumption 
of underground mining will add high value coal and coke 
to the Company’s product mix.
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Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)

• Strengthening Corporate Governance Structures
   The audit committee in liason with independent 

advisors have been tasked to come up with measures 
of strengthening the governance structures of the 
Company.

• Restructuring the Company’s Management
  The Board has approved that a leaner management 

structure with fewer levels of hierarchy be implemented 
in the second quarter. In addition, Board fees and 
management salaries have been reduced by 50%. 
The above initiatives coupled with the unbundling of 
the training centre and school of nursing, sharing of 
infrastructure costs and rationalisation of staff will 
reduce the company’s cost structure significantly. 

 
• Improvement of gross margins
  The reduction in cost of sales and the relocation to 

the Chaba area, where it is dry and does not require 
expensive water resistant explosives, will mean 
improved gross profit margins will be realised. The 
restructuring measures will address both the direct and 
indirect overhead costs. Improvement in overall business 
performance is expected in the third quarter of 2016. With 
the resuscitation of the underground operations and the 
takeover of the HCGC Battery, business performance will 
significantly improve from September 2016 onwards.

• Working Capital Facility of USD7.5 million 
  The new production configuration and sales plan 

depends on availability of USD7.5 million working 
capital. The working capital facility has been structured 
as a prepayment for coal by one of the major customers.

•  Review of supply contracts in order to address any 
anomalies that are responsible for negative gross  
margins

  The Board and management have started negotiations 
with major contractors to reduce charges based on 
low prices for fuel, commodities and equipment. All 
contractors’ agreements are being reviewed. 

• Creditors and Litigations
  Hwange Colliery Company is facing numerous litigations 

from creditors that threaten the going concern of 
the Company. The total amount owed to creditors is 
USD287.3	million. Debt instruments are being set up 
and once approved will stand as payment guarantee to 
creditors.

 
• BELAZ and BEML Equipment
  Since the commissioning of the new mining equipment 

in July 2015, the Company experienced major technical 
challenges with the BEML excavators. There have 
been rigorous engagements with BEML to resolve the 
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problems by supplying new spare parts and deploying 
technical experts at own expense. In addition, the 
warranty for these machines has been extended by a 
further six (6) months or 1 000 hours and the supplier 
has guaranteed availability of the machines. 

  
  The BEML excavators will be tested under full load 

and capacity for a period of one month. The working 
capital facility from Agribank will enable the Company 
to purchase requisite fuel, explosives, lubricants and 
spares. Thereafter it will be ascertained whether or not 
the machines meet the performance specifications.

• Offtake agreements with key customers
  As the Company takes actions to reduce its costs and 

become competitive, it is also driving initiatives to enter 
into one year supply contracts with its key customers. 
It is also reviewing transport costs, both rail and road 
so that the delivered price of coal and coke products is 
attractive for the customers.

OUTLOOK
The short term recovery plan premised on a new business 
model will address the viability challenges of the Company. 
The USD7.5 million coal pre-financing facility structured 
through a major customer and syndicated by two (2) local 
financial institutions will give impetus to the new business 
plan and ensure attainment of the monthly production 
targets of 350 000 tonnes per month from September 2016 
onwards. The mining contractor, Mota Engil, is expected to 
continue to meet its monthly tonnage target.

The production is matched to current market demand. The 
cost focus approach will yield the desired margins given the 
decline in commodity prices.

The conversion of the ZIMRA debt into equity is in progress 
and the exercise should be complete by the end of the third 
quarter of 2016. This transaction is structured through a fully 
underwritten rights issue that will be brought before the 
Shareholders for approval. 

The Company commenced pre-exploration and development 
work at the three (3) new coal concessions that were awarded  
in July 2015. The process of identifying the technical and 
financial strategic partners was done through a public 
invitation for expressions of interest in the exploration of 
the concessions. The adjudications would be finalised by 
the second quarter of 2016. The new concessions will be 
developed as a separate business unit to enable bankability 
and project financial and resource mobilisation.

Coal supply off take agreements were concluded with two (2) 
major new thermal power station developers. Coal supply to 
these new power stations will be from the new concession 
areas. 

Hwange Colliery Company’s own coke oven battery was 
systematically shut down in June 2014. A consultant 
was appointed to determine the scope and financing for 
either a rebuild of this coke oven battery or a replacement. 
Negotiations to terminate the Build Own Operate and 
Transfer (BOOT) agreement signed with Hwange Coal 
Gasification Company (HCGC) in 2007 is at an advanced 
stage. This takeover will include the construction of phase II 
of the coke oven battery which will add another 12 500 tonnes 
per month production capacity.

The Company, in liaison with Tobacco Industry Marketing 
Board, has appraised the feasibility of beneficiating the coal 
fines through a briquetting project. 

The Board is confident that fruition of the current initiatives 
will reverse the adverse statement of financial position of  the 
Company and a tenable status quo is envisaged in the short 
term. 

DIRECTORATE
Mr Farai Mutamangira, who was the Chairman of the 
Company since 11 August 2011, resigned on 09 October 2015. 

Messrs Norman Shingirayi Chibanguza and Ian Chamunorwa 
Haruperi resigned as Directors of the Company on 
29 February 2016 having served the Company since 11 
August 2011.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank 
Messrs Mutamangira, Chibanguza and Haruperi for their 
invaluable contribution to the Company over the years and 
wish them all the best in their future endeavours.

Mr Jemister Chininga was appointed Acting Chairman of the 
Company on 14 October 2015.

APPRECIATION
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our various 
stakeholders, my fellow Board Members, the Management 
team and Staff for their commitment and dedication to 
ensure that the Company remains afloat against the myriad 
of challenges. 

Their continued commitment and support would be key as 
the Company embarks on a new era journeying towards its 
inevitable profitability performance in the short term.
 

J. CHININGA
ACTING CHAIRMAN

24 March 2016

Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)
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3 MAIN UNDERGROUND MINING

3 Main Underground operations require capital injection of approximately 
USD6,3	million for the refurbishment of  the continuous miner, shuttle cars, 
replace roof bolter and other related new equipment supply. Production is 
planned to resume by July 2016. The resumption of underground mining will 
add high value coal and coke to the Company’s product mix.
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Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations

I have pleasure in submitting my report on the Company’s 

operations for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the 

first two months of the financial year 2016.

FINANCIAL YEAR 2015

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

The strategic plan that was crafted in November 2014 

was adopted as the plan for the year 2016 as well. The 

company’s operations during the year 2015 were guided by 

the strategic plan formulated by the Board, Management 

and workers’ representatives towards the end of 2014 at 

the Kariba workshop. The main goals of the plan were:

  To achieve SHE excellence by maintaining loss time 

injury frequency rate (LTIFR) at less than 1,5 and loss 

time injury severity rate (LTISR) at less than 16 in 2015;

  To maintain stakeholder satisfaction by producing and 

processing 5,3million tonnes of coal;

   To retain 100% of our current customers and increase 

domestic & export market share from 40% to 60% & 

10% to 15%, respectively in 2015;

   To secure a new mining concession in 2015 and initiate 

coal value addition projects;

   To implement strategies to achieve a net profit of 

7% and not less than 10c per share earnings for the 

Organisation by the end of the year;

   To maintain an efficient management system that 

complies fully with ISO 9001: 2008 standard and also 

adheres to Corporate Governance principles always; 

and

   To develop and retain at least 90% critical skills, 

competencies and motivation of employees in order to 

maintain competitiveness at all times.

STRATEGIC ACTIONS TAKEN

The above goals were tackled with some degree of 

success, despite the difficult economic challenges that 

were faced across the whole country. Among the notable 

achievements made during the year under review were:

   Securing of funding from the PTA Bank and India 

EXIM Bank for the procurement of open cast mining 

equipment from BELAZ and BEML;

Stenjwa Thomas Makore
Managing Director

...among the notable achivements 
made durng the year under review was 
the awarding of new concessions to 
Hwange Colliery and the signing of 25 
year supply agreements with ZPC and  
PER Lusulu Power Stations ...
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Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)

   Scaling back on barter deals in order to generate 

cash;

   Adoption and implementation of the Company’s 

Divisionalisation strategy which resulted in the 

Company being divided into strategic business units/ 

profit and cost centres;

   Commissioning of the new equipment from BELAZ 

and BEML;

  Successful trial of Hwange Colliery’s coke by Glencore;

   Award of the three new concessions to Hwange 

Colliery: Western Areas (SG 5950), Lubimbi West (SG 

4764) and Lubimbi East (SG 4364);

   Approval by the Ministry of Finance and Economic 

Development of the debt to equity conversion through 

a rights issue;

   Signing of the 25 years’ coal supply agreements with 

ZPC Stage 3 Expansion and with PER Lusulu power 

station;

   WAPCOS was appointed consultant to determine the 

scope for the rebuild/ replacement of the coke oven 

battery and to seek funding for this work;

  Commencement of the environmental impact 

assessment for the Western Areas and both Lubimbi 

concessions;

   Completion of the environmental impact assessment 

for the Co Ash Resources power generation project; 

and

   Continued focus on the Company’s Safety, Health and 

Environmental programs to achieve the “zero harm” 

goal.

AREAS OF IMPROVEMENT

The Company was not spared from the harsh business 

environment that the country continued to face during the 

year under review. However, the organization remained 

resilient and focused on the turnaround of its business. 

Among the crucial issues that Company is yet to clear are 

as follows:

   Clearing the staff salaries which are up to 30 months 

in arrears (equivalent to USD50million as at 31 

December 2015). This is critical as it has the potential 

for negative effects on the organisation’s turnaround 

efforts;

   The newly acquired equipment did not deliver the 

expected production. Specifically the two excavators 

from BEML operated at 30% capacity due to technical 

problems;

   3 Main operations stopped in July 2015 due to a 

major breakdown of the Continuous Miner, complete 

resuscitation will require USD6,3million so that 

production throughput will reach 60 000tons per 

month;

   Securing of long term credit lines to carry out the 

required level of recapitalization; and

   Eradication of the perennial environmental risk 

arising from the Acid Mine Drainage (AMD) related to 

the effluent from the old underground mine workings, 

particularly in the No.1 Colliery, and lack of capacity to 

carry out rehabilitation work at the opencast.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

OVERVIEW

The year 2015 was punctuated by both major successes 

and setbacks. The high expectations that production 

would significantly improve following the commissioning 

of the new equipment were not met. The major issues 

were as follows:

  Production for the year was 1,5million tons compared 

to approximately 1,8million tons in the previous year;

   The capacity determining BEML excavators achieved 

only 5 000BCM’s per day compared to the expected 15 

000BCM’s per day;

   The low production and sales resulted in lower 

cash collections and inadequate working capital for 

operations and consequently the company could not 

service its creditor and debt servicing obligations;

   Employees’ salaries backlog increased to due to 

lower levels of receipts and employees started to 

obtain writs of execution and forced the sales of the 

company’s assets; and

   The litigation obligations also increased and creditors 

started to obtain writs of execution and forced sale of 

company’s assets.
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Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)

PRODUCTION AND SALES

For reasons stated above, production volumes for the 

year under review were below target. Overall production 

from the Opencast Mine, the main source of the raw coal 

mined, was 30% against budget. The graph below shows 

2015 production figures by month.

The following graph shows the production volume by 

month and by source. 3 Main operations stopped in July 

2015 due to a major breakdown of the Continuous Miner.

SAFETY HEALTH AND ENvIRONMENT

The organisation made maximum efforts to uphold its 

commitment to the provisions of a safe working place 

for all its employees at all levels against a background 

of severe cash-flow constraints. All SHEQ programmes 

were kept highly active as an integral part of efforts to 

ensure a safe working environment and compliance with 

legislation, regulations and all relevant National and 

International standards.

4.2 PRODUCTION AND SALES 

For reasons stated above, production volumes for the year under review were below target. 
Overall production from the Opencast Mine, the main source of the raw coal mined, was 30% 
against budget. The graph below shows 2015 production figures by month. 

 
 
The following table shows the production volume by month and by source. 3 Main operations 
stopped in July 2015 due to a major breakdown of the Continuous Miner. 
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The following table shows the production volume by month and by source. 3 Main operations 
stopped in July 2015 due to a major breakdown of the Continuous Miner. 
 

 
 

4.3 SAFETY HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT 

The organisation made maximum efforts to uphold its commitment to the provisions of a safe 
working place for all its employees at all levels against a background of severe cash-flow 

To
nn

ag
e

To
nn

ag
e



19H w a n g e  C o l l i e r y  C o m p a n y  L i m i t e d  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 5

Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)

Unfortunately the Company had two fatalities during the 

year and this underlined the need for renewed focus on 

safety practices and enforcement. Due to the fatalities, 

the safety record for the Company was not as good as 

the previous year. There were 25 human injury accidents 

recorded in 2015 compared to 19 recorded in 2014.

The Company could not carry out any meaningful 

rehabilitation of the mined out areas at the Opencast due 

to lack of funds to purchase the required equipment for 

this exercise. Acid Mine Drainage challenges from the old 

and disused No.1 Colliery persisted during the year under 

review. Funds are yet to be secured to turn this threat to 

an opportunity by the acquisition and installation of an 

Acid Mine Drainage treatment plant.

ISO9001:2008	CERTIFICATION

The organization carried out internal quality audits. 

External SAZ Quality Management Audit was scheduled 

for February 2016. The company continued to adhere and 

follow its quality systems and standards as part of its 

ISO9001:2008 standard procedures and policies.

OPENCAST

Opencast operations were spread between the Dragline 

Pit and the Chaba Pit. The contractor Turbo’s crushing 

plant was used to augment HCCL’s own crushing plant 

capacity at Chaba. This contract was terminated in March 

2015 and HCCL took over the plant in April 2015.

Key issues that hampered production were the locking 

of the Sany equipment from October because the capital 

account was not up to date. The Dragline was not always 

available and needed to be funded monthly in order to 

increase availability. The Volvo haulage fleet was not 

available in 2015. Mota Engil stopped operations in April 

and resumed in November after signature of the ESCROW 

agreement. The ESCROW Agreement will enable 

transparent management of cash received from ZPC so 

that Mota Engil current receipt receive first priority in 

terms of payments.

The Company took delivery of new drills from Revathi 

as part of the scope of supply funded by the India EXIM 

Bank. The drills performed to expectation from the date 

of commissioning.

The underperformance of the BEML excavators caused 

low production levels of HCCL’s own operations in the 

second half of the year. Working capital was injected 

in October, however it was only adequate to support 

operations until early December 2015. The conveyor belt 

that supplies coal to ZPC was resuscitated. Some work 

is still outstanding however, it is available and can deliver 

coal mined from the JKL pit. The conveyor belt to No.2 

plant is still under resuscitation.

UNDERGROUND MINING

The 3 Main Underground Mine, which is the main source 

of the Company’s coking coal, was also negatively affected 

by inadequate working capital. Production remained 

subdued throughout the year mainly due to numerous 

break-downs of the Continous Miner and Shuttle Car 

fleet. The 3 Main underground operations stopped in July 

2015 due to a major breakdown of the Continuous Miner.

METALLURGICAL OPERATIONS

During 2015, the total HIC/HCC coal processed during 

2015 was 1,031,224 tonnes against an annual target of 

2,880,000 tonnes. The 2015 annual coking coal produced 

from the HMS was below target at 40, 170 tonnes against 

an annual target of 600,000 tonnes.

The 2015 annual coking coal processed (Coal fines & 

NPD) at the Jig & Flotation Plant was below target at 

61,835 tonnes against an annual target of 265 200 tonnes.

The 2015 annual coke production (HCGC & SM toll coking) 

stands at 34, 009.04 tonnes, against a target of 120,000 

tonnes. Due to the prevailing market conditions, toll 

coking was suspended until such a time when global 

commodity prices pick up.
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Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)

ENGINEERING

Electrical power supply improved significantly following 

the commissioning of a 65 MVA transformer by ZETDC 

on 31 December 2015. HCCL still faces the risk that there 

is no dedicated alternative supply at the moment. Should 

any failure occur on the newly installed transformer, HCCL 

will have to be supplied from the less reliable Hwange 

Local link. The electrical switchgear and protection 

relays are beyond their economic life and urgently require 

replacement.

The water supply system especially the pumps, pipe 

reticulation and water treatment plant to Hwange 

requires replacement and upgrade. The system poses a 

health risk and business continuity risk.

Utility vehicles for the mine, electrical, mechanical and 

civil engineering services are urgently required. The 

financing facility from Ecobank has not been concluded. 

Further engagements with Ecobank will take place after 

finalization of debt payment instruments/Treasury Bills 

with creditors.

ESTATES

The cumulative net loss to December 2015 was USD1 

393 792 compared to last year’s profit of USD304	 181. 

The dilution of profits was caused by the Depreciation 

figure of USD1	478	626 which resulted from the transfer 

of assets from the Mining Division’s balance sheet to the 

Estates Division in addition to the Shared Services charge 

amounting to USD578	856. The profit before depreciation 

and Shared Services charge was USD663	689, an increase 

over the previous year’s figure of USD304	181.

Besides depreciation and salary costs, repairs and 

maintenance was the leading cost driver, even though it 

is only 27.1% of budget because of cash constraints. Total 

costs excluding depreciation and management recoveries 

are nearly at last year’s levels, increasing marginally by 

3%.

The division was divided into four segments, i.e. Real 

Estate, Retail, Hospitality and Education. Retail had the 

highest sales as a result of the fuel business. Real Estate 

had the highest cost, driven by repairs and maintenance 

and contractor costs. Education has the highest net profit, 

followed by Hospitality. However a large component of the 

Education segment’s revenue is tied up in debtors, due 

to non-payment of salaries to staff. Approximately 90% 

of parents of the children at the Division’s schools are 

employed by Hwange Colliery.

The division struggled throughout the year to fund football 

and other sports, most of which were funded on a cash 

basis. Total net sports expenditure including salaries was 

USD849	 748 compared to the previous year’s figure of 

USD785	852.

The division will be run as a separate company in 2016. It 

will be streamlined so that only core staff will remain on 

the permanent payroll.

MEDICAL SERVICES

The Medical Services Division realised a net loss of USD1 

085	850 for period January to December 2015 compared 

to a loss of USD652	 000 recorded in 2014. The 67% 

increase in the annual loss is attributed to the Shared 

Service Charge and Depreciation expenses which were 

not part of the 2014 costs. The two accounted for USD1 

016	544 of expenditure in 2015.

Revenue grew by a marginal 5% in 2015 to	USD3	787	687	

up from USD3	 621	 000 in 2014. Capacity utilisation in 

the Medical Wards remained sub-optimal whilst severe 

working capital constraints resulted in the provision 

of limited services, notably at the Hospital Pharmacy. 

The introduction of a viable Medical Fund arrangement 

for Colliery employees will allow the Division to receive 

payment for work done, thereby optimising service 

delivery. Cost of Sales decreased 10% in 2015 due to a 

combination of deliberate cost rationalisation measures, 

and inadequate working capital. The latter resulted in 

shortages of some process inputs. Total expenditure 
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Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)

for the period, however, grew by 14% on the back of the 

unbudgeted administrative costs of Depreciation and 

Shared services.

Shared Services charges are the uncontrollable costs 

allocated to the Division to cater for services that the 

Division ordinarily accesses from the Main Company - 

such as ICT, Payroll, Engineering and Security and Loss 

Control services. These costs amounted to USD766 224 

or 16% of total costs in 2015. Depreciation expenses 

arose from the inclusion on the Divisional Balance Sheet 

of Buildings and Equipment controlled by the Division. 

Depreciation amounted to USD250	 320 or 5% of total 

costs in 2015.

The Division looks forward to the procurement of a Patient 

Management and Administration system which has 

already been identified and which costs USD107	000. This 

will significantly improve revenue collection through real-

time billing and the elimination of errors and omissions. 

The system would also allow for effective business 

analysis. Billing and much of the Debtors processes are 

being prepared manually following the collapse of the 

HOSP billing system in 2013.

In 2016, the division will also follow through on the 

unbundling of the school of nursing. The plan is that this 

school will be taken over by the department of health. The 

division will also be run as a separate company in 2016. 

It will be streamlined so that only core staff will remain 

on the permanent payroll. Non-core services will be 

outsourced.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2015, the number of employees in 

service was 2 585 compared to 2 778 in service at the end 

of the year 2013.

Industrial harmony prevailed during the period under 

review despite financial constraints faced by the company 

leading to backlog in salaries. However, no work 

stoppages were encountered throughout the year 2015. 

Performance appraisals were conducted at the end of 

every quarter.
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Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)

The Company continued to run Graduate Learnership 

as well as the Tertiary Internship programs as part of 

its contribution to the development of a sound National 

skills base. A total of 8 graduate learners, 61 apprentices, 

33 student nurses and 172 other trainees were provided 

training in their respective disciplines up to December 

2015. The total training for all staff in 2015 was 71 781 

man days. 

CAPEX PROJECTS 
Expenditure on fixed assets for the year amounted to 
USD	32	680	228	(USD 56 479 in 2014) and was mainly on 
the acquisition of mining equipment financed through 
negotiated medium term credit facilities.

The Company’s total property, plant and equipment 

amounted to USD 136 344 524 (USD	129	078	977 in 2014).

BUSINESS DIVERSIFICATION

a)  Induction Plasma Gasification

 The Environmental Impact Assessment was completed. 

The site for the project was identified. Co Ash provided a 

letter of confirmation of USD7million capex funding. The 

pilot project of a 20MW power plant was meant to have 

commenced by December 2015. The revised start date is 

quarter 1 2016.

b)  Coal-To-Liquid (CTL)

 This project is long term and Co Ash has indicated interest 

to expand its gasification plant into a CTL plant. Cobramar 

has also indicated interest. However funding remains the 

single biggest obstacle. A Non-Disclosure agreement was 

signed with Verify Engineering to co-develop this project.
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c) Coal-Bed Methane (CBM)

 Potential CBM targets were identified within the Hwange 

Reduced Concession and quotations on gas analysis and 

quantification were obtained from one company. Funding 

for this work remains the constraint. There is a possibility 

that Jelco may be able to fund this analysis provided 

that we enter into a MOU to co-develop the power plant. 

Discussions are underway.

CONCLUSION

 The year 2015 was very difficult despite the successful 

commissioning of the new equipment from BELAZ and 

BEML. The Board, Management and staff‘s determination 

have allowed the company operations to continue while 

actions to mitigate risks against litigations and going 

concern threats were being propelled. In the year 2016, 

the rights issue and issuance of Treasury Bills will be key 

drivers for the restructuring of the balance sheet and the 

attraction of funding for investment.

 I would like to thank the Board Chairman, the Board 

members, management and staff for their support, hard 

work, resilience and loyalty during the difficult year. The 

contributions of the HCCL team will shape the turnaround 

of the company and give impetus to these efforts in 2016 

and beyond.

S. T.  MAKORE
MANAGING DIRECTOR

24 March 2016

Managing Director’s 
Review Of Operations (cont’d)
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COAL AND COKE MARKETS

As the Company takes actions to reduce its costs and become competitive, it 
is also driving initiatives to enter into one year supply contracts with its key 
customers. It is also reviewing transport costs, both rail and road so that the 
delivered price of coal and coke products is attractive to the customers.
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Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach

DIRECTORATE

JEMISTER CHININGA
(Non-Executive Director) - Resigned 13 May 2016

Jemister holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from 
United States  International University, San Diego, California. He acted 
as Managing Director of the Company for the period 1 August 2013 to 31 
May 2014.  Previously he was the Managing Director of Ramotswa Steel 
and Iron Company (a subsidiary of Zimbabwe Iron and Steel Company) 
based in Botswana from 2002 to 2009.  He was also Managing Director 
of ZISCO subsidiaries in Botswana, Namibia and Zambia.  He joined the 
Public Service in November 1980 and rose through the ranks until his 
retirement in 2001 holding the position of Deputy Secretary (Finance and 
Administration) in the Ministry of Industry and International Trade.  

He also occupied various positions including that of Chairman of the 
Zimbabwe Government Tender Board and He is a former Board Member 
of Olivine Holdings, Centre for Innovation and Enterprise Development 
(CIED), Chairman of Zimbabwe Iron and Steel Commission (ZISCOM), 
He is also a former Board Member of the Standards Association of 
Zimbabwe (SAZ), the Minerals Marketing Corporation of Zimbabwe 
(MMCZ), Zimbabwe Defence Industries and Sandawana Mines (Private) 
Limited, a subsidiary of Zimbabwe Mining Development Corporation 
(ZMDC). He is a current Board Member of Zimchem Refineries (Private) 
Limited.

STENJWA THOMAS MAKORE
(Managing Director) 

Thomas is a renowned executive with an excellent international track 
record in the corporate sector.  Starting his career as a graduate trainee 
with Triangle Limited, Tom went on to join telecoms giant Siemens 
Limited as Projects Engineer in the Johannesburg Office in 1992. He 
was seconded to Siemens Germany in 1993 before rising through 
various positions to the post of Divisional Managing Director in 2001. 
After 12 years with Siemens, Thomas went on to join information and 
communication technology firm Diebold South Africa (Pty) Limited as 
Managing Director in 2004.  

In 2005, he moved to Spescom Holdings Limited as Chief Executive 
Officer for Spescom Telecommunications, a position he held for a period 
of six (6) years.  In 2011 he joined Cummins (Pty) Limited as Commercial 
Director overseeing Southern African operations before settling for 
full time consultancy in Energy & Telecoms in 2013. Mr Makore holds 
a Master of Business Leadership Degree from the University of South 
Africa as well as a Bachelor of Science Electrical Engineering Honours 
degree from the University of Zimbabwe. He is a member of the Institute 
of Engineering Technology (UK), South African Institute of Electrical 
Engineering, Institute of Electrical Electronic Engineers (US) and is a 
Chartered Engineer.

He is currently a Non-Executive Director of Zimchem Refineries (Private) 
Limited and Clay Products Limited.
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Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach (cont’d)
DIRECTORATE

MRS JULIANA MUSKWE
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

Juliana is currently studying for a Bachelor of Arts Honours in Human 
and Social Sciences specializing in Development Studies with the 
University of South Africa (UNISA).  She has a Diploma in Personnel 
Management from the Institute of People Management of Zimbabwe 
(IPMZ), a Certificate in Community Development from LASOF Institute 
and a Certificate in HIV and Aids from UNISA. 

She previously was the Programmes Manager for Ntengwe Community 
Development, an organization that she championed its establishment 
for the benefit of the community.  She is a skilled worker with sound 
knowledge and experience of more than twenty (20) years in community 
development programmes with emphasis on HIV Aids, gender, children 
and vulnerable societies.  She has had extensive training in monitoring 
and evaluation, project planning and proposals, behavioural change, 
women’s rights, results based management and financial management.

VALENTINE VERA
(Non-Executive Director)

Valentine holds a Bachelor of Science Honours Degree from the 
University of Rhodesia (now University of Zimbabwe), and a Bachelor of 
Science Degree in Chemical Engineering from Wayne State University in 
the United States of America (U.S.A)

He is currently the Director of Metallurgy in the Ministry of Mines and 
Mining Development, prior to which he held positions of Deputy Director, 
Regional Metallurgist and Projects Metallurgist within the same 
ministry.  He has extensive technical and management experience both 
local and international.  He is a member of the Zimbabwe School of 
Mines Board and the Mining Affairs Board.
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IAN CHAMUNORWA HARUPERI
(Independent Non-Executive Director) - Resigned 29 February 2016

Ian holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from Middlesex 
University, United Kingdom and has a Certificate in Stock Broking and 
Investment Advisory.

He is currently the Managing Director of Chardore Holdings.  He has 
several years work experience as Managing Director for an organization 
dealing in mining, properties, finance and investments.  Mr. Haruperi 
was the Director of Mining Procurement for Memotek Ltd from 2001 to 
2003.  Ian is a Non Executive Director of Rainbow Tourism Group (RTG).  
He has international experience in developing greenfields projects 
ranging from desktop studies, mine layouts, initial drill plans, drilling 
and exploration to investments in large scale mining. He has high level 
experience and expertise in international stock exchange listings.

Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach
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SHINGIRAYI NORMAN CHIBANGUZA
(Non-Executive Director) - Resigned 29 February 2016

Shingi is studying for a Bachelor of Commerce in Entrepreneurship with 
the University of South Africa (UNISA). 

He is Managing Director for Farhigh Trading Transportation and Property 
Management Company and a Director for Cladmont Investments, 
Property Plus Realtors and Haddon and Sly Properties.  He has 
previously been Managing Director of Chibanguza Group of Hotels and 
Guy Chibanguza Enterprises (Private) Limited’s retail supermarkets.  
Shingi is a Non Executive Director of Rainbow Tourism Group (RTG) and 
Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited.
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Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach (cont’d)
DIRECTORATE - POST REPORTING DIRECTORATE CHANGES

RESIGNATIONS

The following Non-Executive Directors resigned from the Board:

Jemister Chininga  (Resigned 19/05/16)
Shingirayi Norman Chibanguza  (Resigned 29/02/16)
Ian Chamunorwa Haruperi  (Resigned 29/02/16)

APPOINTMENTS

The following Non-Executive Directors were appointed to the Board with effect from 19 May 2016 and being eligible, 

have offered themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting:

WINSTON CHITANDO
(Chairman) - Appointed 19 May 2016              

Winston Chitando is a seasoned executive whose experience in the 
mining sector spans close to three decades. He completed a Bachelor of 
Accountancy degree from the University of Zimbabwe in November 1984 
and in December the same year joined Anglo American Corporation as 
a graduate trainee based at Hwange Colliery Company, where he rose to 
the position of Chief Accountant.

For a total of 11 years, Winston worked for the Anglo-American 
Corporation group. During this period he rose through the ranks to hold 
various positions and directorships in a number of industrial and mining 
companies which were part of the Anglo-American group. At the time he 
left the group to join Zimasco in 1997, he held the position of Divisional 
Commercial Manager in the Mining and Industrial Division.

From 1998 until September 2007, Winston was an Executive Director 
with responsibility for Finance for both Zimasco (Pvt) Ltd and Mimosa 
Mining Company. He at various periods also held Executive responsibility 
in Zimasco for Sales and North Dyke Mining during this time.

He was subsequently appointed Managing Director of Mimosa Mining 
Company effective 1st October 2007. In May 2013, Mimosa restructured 
and Winston was appointed to the position of Executive Chairman of 
Mimosa Holdings and Mimosa Mining Company. As Executive Chairman, 
Winston’s mandate includes driving long term strategies and effective 
stakeholder management.

Winston served as Vice President of the Chamber of Mines of Zimbabwe 
from 2008 until 2011 and as President from 2011 to 2013. He continues 
to serve on the Chamber of Mines Executive Committee and is currently 
Chairman of the Platinum Producers Association. Winston sits on 
various other boards including Zimbabwe School of Mines where he 
chairs the Audit Committee.
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WENCELAUS TARUGARIRA KUTEKWATEKWA
(Non-Executive Director) - Appointed 19 May 2016

Wence is a mining engineer with skills covering mining production, 
planning and technical, project management, contract management, 
marketing, organizational development, executive management and 
corporate governance roles, which have been acquired in 26 years in 
the local mining industry. He started his mining career with the Anglo 
American group where he worked for twelve years up to mine manager 
level. He then later worked as Business Value Planning Manager for 
Zimasco, Technical Executive for AA Mines, Consulting Mining Engineer 
for Bindura Nickel Corporation, General Manager for Zimasco North 
Dyke Division, Country Manager for Atlas Copco Zimbabwe, Chief 
Operating Officer for RioZim and Managing Director for RioGold. He 
is currently the Consulting Director and CEO of Virimai Projects, an 
emerging entrepreneurial mining consulting and project management 
organisation.

Wence is a former member of the Board for the Zimbabwe School 
of Mines, past president of the Association of Mine Managers of 
Zimbabwe, past chairman of the Southern African Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy, past chairman of the SHE Committee of the Chamber of 
Mines, past chairman of Mine Rescue Association of Zimbabwe and past 
board chairman for the Project Management Institute of Zimbabwe. He 
is member of the Institute of Directors and a Fellow of the Southern 
African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

MRS NTOMBIZODWA MASUKU
(Non-Executive Director) - Appointed 19 May 2016

Ntombizodwa holds a Master of Science Degree in Exploration 
Geophysics and a Bachelor of Science Degree in Geology and Physics, 
both from the University of Zimbabwe.

She worked for the Zimbabwe Geological Survey (ZGS) for seventeen 
years (1990 – 2007), during which period she rose through the ranks 
to the position of Chief Geophysicist; a position she held until her 
resignation from Public Service in September 2007.  While at ZGS, 
Ntombizodwa received extensive local, regional and international on-
the-job training and best practice.  She worked closely with small-
scale miners country-wide, local and international large-scale mineral 
exploration companies where she was instrumental in the promotion 
of Geophysics as an exploration tool, the University of Zimbabwe where 
she did extensive research in deep groundwater aquifers in the north-
western parts of Zimbabwe and was also attached to DPhil research 
fellows and the Zimbabwe School of Mines where she taught part of the 
Geology Diploma for over five years.  

Since her resignation from Public Service, Ntombizodwa has been 
involved in mineral and groundwater exploration as a consultant 
geophysicist and has done successful contract projects both locally and 
in the region.  Ntombizodwa was appointed to the Zimbabwe Mining 
Development Corporation Board for the period December 2012 to 
December 2013.
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Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach (cont’d)
CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Shingirayi Norman Chibanguza   (Resigned 29/02/16)
Jemister Chininga Acting Chairman   (Resigned 13/05/16)
Winston Chitando     Chairman  (Appointed 19/05/16)
Ian Chamunorwa Haruperi   (Resigned 29/02/16)
Wencelaus Tarugarira Kutekwatekwa  Non-Executive Director (Appointed 19/05/16)
Stenjwa Thomas Makore Managing Director
Ntombizodwa Masuku (Mrs)   Non-Executive Director (Appointed 19/05/16)
Juliana Muskwe (Mrs)
Farai Mutamangira  Chairman  (Resigned 09/10/15)
Valentine Vera

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Managing Director    Stenjwa Thomas Makore
Acting Finance Manager    Gift Sibanda
Acting Head Legal  & Company Secretary  Allen Masiya
Acting Head Projects & New Concessions  Oliver Josiah Maponga
Acting Human Resources Manager   Joe Zulu
Acting Sales & Marketing Manager   Beauty Mutombe (Mrs)
Acting Metallurgical Operations and Logistics Manager Bongani Conrad Ndlovu
Acting Mining & Planning Manager   Akimhu Isaac Mutiti
Acting Engineering Services Manager  Mzanywa Bahlangene
Acting Estates Manager    Perekai Simbarashe Mapanga
Acting Medical Services Manager   Charles Zinyemba (Dr)
Acting Audit Manager    Samson Fusai
Acting Internal Audit, Risk and Compliance Manager Thomson Zvidzai

ACCOUNTS

Currency of Accounts:  United States Dollars
Period of account:  Year ended 31 December 2015

REGISTERED OFFICE 
 
7th Floor, Coal House  
17 Nelson Mandela Avenue  
P.O. Box 2870    
Harare, Zimbabwe
www.hwangecolliery.net

ATTORNEYS

Chihambakwe Mutizwa and Partners
Mawere and Sibanda Legal Practitioners
Majoko and Majoko Legal Practitioners

SHARE TRANSFER SECRETARIES  
 
Corpserve (Private) Limited  
4th Floor, Intermarket Centre  
Cnr Kwame Nkurumah Avenue/First 
Street, Harare, Zimbabwe

AUDITORS  
 
Grant Thornton   
Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) 
Camelsa Business Park
135 Enterprise Road, Highlands 
P O Box CY 2619   
Harare, Zimbabwe
www.grantthornton.co.zw

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

BancABC
Stanbic Bank Limited
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and recommending the general policies that ensure 
the financial strategy of the Company is achieved. The 
Committee reviews the auditor’s reports to management 
and the Board.  

The external auditors are appointed each year based on 
recommendations of the Audit Committee.

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE
The Committee is responsible for reviewing and 
recommending the human resources policies of the 
Company. The Committee is responsible for reviewing 
the organisational structure in line with the strategy and 
make recommendations to the Board.  The Company’s 
remuneration policies fall under the delegation of 
this Committee to ensure that salaries and benefits 
in the Company are competitive.  The Committee also 
recommends remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 
to the Board.

MARKETING COMMITTEE
It meets at least four (4) times a year to review the 
Company’s overall marketing strategy, sales policy, 
market intelligence systems and market research and 
development programmes.  
The Committee also reviews the Company’s public 
relations and corporate social responsibility programmes.

TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
It meets at least four (4) times a year to review and 
recommended policies on exploration, production, product 
quality and operational performance. The Committee 
provides framework to management and guides the 
Board on the technical, safety, health and environmental 
aspects of the Company. The Committee also reviews 
and recommends the Company’s capital expenditure and 
supply chain policies. It also oversees compliance with 
procedures and legislation in the Company’s operations. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Board of Hwange Colliery Company sits as a 
Nomination Committee to consider the appointment of 
new Directors in the event of casual vacancies.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Internal Audit function is guided by an approved Audit 
Charter and practically plays an independent appraisal 
role which examines and evaluates the Company’s 
activities. Its objectives is to assist the Board and 
Executive Management in the effective discharge of their 
responsibilities. The scope of the internal control, the 
means of safeguarding assets, the efficient management 

GOVERNANCE REPORT
Hwange Colliery Company Limited follows the principles 
and general guidelines set out by the King Code of 
Corporate Practices and Conduct as contained in the 
King III Report on Corporate Governance. For the year 
under review, the Company complied with the material 
provisions of the code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Details of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors are 
provided from pages 25 and 29 of the annual report.

Hwange Colliery Company Limited has a unitary Board 
currently comprised of a Non-Executive Chairman, a 
Managing Director and four (4) Non-Executive Directors.  
Directors are appointed to the Board by Shareholders 
subject to an ordinary resolution of the Annual General 
Meeting.  The Non-Executive Directors have a wide range 
of competencies and significant business, commercial 
and other interests that enable them to bring independent 
judgment to Board deliberations and decisions. All 
Directors have access to the advice and services of 
the Company Secretary. In appropriate circumstances 
and at the Company’s expense, the Directors may seek 
independent professional advice concerning Hwange 
Colliery Company Limited’s affairs.

Certain functions and responsibilities have been 
delegated by the Board to the committees that have 
been established in line with the best practice to address 
Company specific requirements. The Company from 
time to time reviews the number of Board Committees 
as necessitated by the prevailing operating environment.  
All Board committees have formal and approved terms of 
reference which are regularly reviewed.  At every Board 
meeting, the Chairperson of the respective committee 
formally reports back to the Board and makes appropriate 
recommendations.

The Company has four (4) Board Committees detailed as 
below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee meets at least four (4) times a 
year with management and the external auditors. The 
key responsibilities of the committee are to review the 
financial statements and accounting policies of the 
Company, the effectiveness of management systems of 
internal control, the effectiveness of the internal audit 
and financial management functions. The Committee is 
charged with ensuring adequate capital financing for the 
Company. The Committee is responsible for reviewing 

Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach (cont’d)
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   Human     
 Board Audit Resources Marketing Technical
 Meetings Committee Committee Committee Committee

No. of Meetings held 5 5 4 4 4
F. Mutamangira (Resigned on 09.10.2015) 3 1 - - -
J. Chininga (Resigned 13.05.2016) 5 3 2 1 3
S. T. Makore 5 4 4 4 4 
N. S. Chibanguza (Resigned on 29.02.2016) 3 1 4 4 1
I. C. Haruperi (Resigned on 29.02.2016) 4 - 2 1 -
J. Muskwe (Mrs.) 5 4 1 1 4
V. Vera 5 4 - - 4

J. CHININGA S. T. MAKORE
ACTING CHAIRMAN MANAGING DIRECTOR

24 March 2016

Our Governance and 
Ethics Approach (cont’d)

of the Company’s resources, and the effective conduct of Company operations are the key performance areas for the 
internal audit function.  The Head of Internal Audit has a direct reporting relationship to the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, though administratively is accountable to the Managing Director.

BOARD,	COMMITTEEE	MEETINGS	ATTENDANCE
Details of attendance by the Directors at Board and Committee meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015 are set out below:
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SUSTAINABILITY ISSUES
The Company’s health delivery systems and public health programmes 
were successfully divisionalised and are now operating on a self-sustenance 
financial model. The Colliery Hospital met stakeholder expectations as the 
referral medical facility for Matebeleland North province.
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We strive to operate our business in a socially and environmentally responsible manner. The Company continues 

to strengthen its systems to address both environmental and social aspects associated with its mining operations. 

The Company adopted implementation of the Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI)’s Sustainability Reporting Framework 

through a sustainability team responsible for assisting in identifying and managing material issues, risks and 

opportunities associated with the Company operations.

The sustainability team at our mining operations was led by Eng. Victor Rakabopa (General Manager Operations) and 

for the period under review, monitored and provided performance data on sustainability key performance indicators. 

The team comprise representatives from the Opencast Mine, Underground Mine, Metallurgical Operations, Finance 

and Administration, Human Resources, Sales and Marketing, Engineering, Quality, Environment and Health and Safety 

departments.

In keeping with reasonable expectations and interest of a wide range of our stakeholders who include customers, 

suppliers, regulators, employees, Shareholders, investors, government, communities and others, Hwange Colliery 

Company Limited adopted an inclusive strategy which requires continuous engagement with stakeholders. Our 

stakeholder engagement process helps capture material issues that help balance the long term social, environmental 

and economic interests with the principle of maximising the Company’s earnings and business values while responding 

to concerns of all the stakeholders. 

The process of identifying indicators reported in this report involved an assessment of the overall business and key 

issues of concern to our stakeholders. In the process of identifying material issues and choice of indicators, the 

sustainability team is always guided by GRI-Sustainability Reporting Framework guidelines.  

DATA MEASUREMENT

Data measurement in this report is according to specific indicators selected, particurarly where graphs and tables 

are presented.  In most indicators, quantitative data is provided. Where the latter is not provided, qualitative data is 

provided to relevant indicators.  Data measurement is according to systems and policies of Hwange Colliery Company 

Limited.

LIMITATIONS

For the specific indicators reported, no major limitations were encountered in providing required data.

Our Sustainability 
Approach
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SAFETY PERFORMANCE 

Number of Human Injury Accidents

Year	 	 Non-Lost	Shift	 Lost	Shift	 Lost	Shift	Days		 Total	No.	of	Accidents 

2015  5 20 12 284 25
2014  4 19 254 23

There were 25 human injury accidents recorded in 2015 as compared to 23 recorded in 2014 showing a slight increase. 
However, 2015 performance was better than the 2013 performance were 25 lost shift accidents were recorded 
compared to 20 recorded in 2015. There were two fatalities recorded in 2015.

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

The LTIFR over the four year period is showing a decreasing trend as shown above due to efforts being made to ensure 
accident prevention at the workplace.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Environmental incidents and fines
There were zero environmental incidents and zero environmental fines that were recorded during 2015.

Our Sustainability 
Performance

 Year 2012  Year 2013  Year 2014  Year 2015

LTIFR 3.8 3.9 2.61 2.74
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Fig. 1 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 2012 - 2015
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITS

Environmental Pollution Permits
Applications for renewal of various permits were made to the Environmental Management Agency in accordance with 
the following legislative requirements:
• Environmental Management Act (Chapter 20:27);
• Environmental Management (Effluent & Solid Waste disposal) Regulations of 2007 (S.I. 6 of 2007);
• Environmental Management (Atmospheric Pollution Control) Regulations, 2009 (S.I. 72 of 2009);
•  Environmental  Management (Hazardous Substances, Pesticides and Other Toxic Substances) Regulations, 2007. 

(Statutory Instrument 12 of 2007 - S.I.12 of 2007); and
•  Environmental Management (Hazardous Waste Management) Regulations, 2007. (Statutory Instrument 10 of 2007 

- S.I.10 of 2007).

Water Abstraction Permits

Table 3: Water Abstraction Trends

HCCL has permits to abstract water from both Surface and Ground water. Water abstraction has been within the 
permitted quantities over the three year period as shown above.

ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING

Surface Effluent Water Pollution Control
The effluent water monitoring programme continued during the period under review with all effluent discharge points 
being sampled as a requirement of the Environmental Management (Effluent and Solid Waste disposal) Regulations of 
2007 (S.I. 6 of 2007).  All sampling points fell within their permit categories. There was a notable reduction in effluent 
discharge volumes due to re-use of some of the effluent water in operations such as dust suppression. 

Our Sustainability 
Performance

2013 2014 2015

% Total Water Abstracted 86 97 96

% Permitted 100 100 100
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Our Sustainability 
Performance

ACID MINE DRAINAGE (AMD) SITE MONITORING

Acid Mine Drainage Site Monitoring was ongoing during the period under review. Wetland is in place for passive 
biological AMD treatment. Hence, the final AMD fluctuated between the green and yellow category against the red 
permit category.

Public Streams Water Quality Monitoring
Water quality in public streams was good with most sampling points falling in the Green Category.

OCCUPATIONAL HYGIENE MONITORING

Dust Management 
Dust mitigation measures were instituted to reduce employee exposure at Screening Plants while dust suppression 
on haul roads was also a priority. In addition employees are undergoing Pneumoconiosis Examinations periodically in 
accordance to the requirements of the Pneumoconiosis Act.

Noise and Illumination Assessment 
Noise and night-time illumination assessments were conducted at the Opencast Mine and Engineering Workshops 
during the year under review. The objective of the audit was to determine the illumination levels at the points of 
operations. Recommendations were made for non-compliant areas.

ENVIRONMENTAL INSPECTIONS AND AUDITS

Statutory Environmental Inspections
Environmental Management Agency [EMA] inspectors were at the Mine every quarter checking on compliance. The 
organisation was not issued with any fines.

In-house SHE Inspections
SHE Inspections were conducted through-out the Mine. Action plans were put in place to address the non-conformances.

Rehabilitation 
There is a provision for the rehabilitation of the mined out areas at the Opencast Mines. 

SHE Training
Various SHE Training courses were conducted throughout in the drive to achieve SHE excellence.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Hwange Coal Miners and Coal Processors’ Environment Forum
A Hwange Coal Miners and Coal Processors’ Environment Forum was formed during the year under review. The forum 
consists of all Coal Mining and Coal Processing companies in Hwange including ZPC. HCCL has the role of chairing 
this forum. Major priority area of focus was to address the issue of Deka Pollution following Community complaints 
being received by EMA. 

Hwange Clean Up Campaign
The organization participated in the Hwange Clean-Up Campaign. The objective was to pick litter along all major roads 
throughout the Concession and major roads.
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PERFORMANCE STATISTICS

Material Use

Materials 2015 2014 2013 2012
   
Diesel - Litres 6 040 570 6 880 790 7 152 330 7 548 088
Ammonium Nitrate - 50kg bags 12 154 19 800 22 800 19 773
Magnetite - Tonnes  428 606 559 576
Cement - 50kg bags 189 2 153 311 3 004
Other - stone dust - 50kg bags 651 2 400 2 655 2 145
           - roof bolts - Each 1 795 5 389 11 347 8 627

The above reflects a general decrease in materials used to support production that meet our expected 
market demand. Total material use decreased by 4 % from 2014.

Water Usage

Source 2015 2014 2013  2012
 m3 m3 m3  m3

Zambezi River 2 868 651 3 499 989 2 812 455 3 3 056 525
Underground Borehole  7 328 183 6 612 589 5 999 904 6 6 796 804
Total water usage 10 196 834 10 112 578 8 812 359 9 9 853 329

Water usage in 2015 was higher compared to 2014. The Company continued with its Water management
programmes and proactive maintenance of the pump stations and handling utilities. Zambezi River 
water usage increased by 24% while underground borehole water usage increased by 10 %. Overall
water usage decreased by 15% from 2014.

Our Sustainability 
Performance
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TO THE MEMBERS OF HWANGE COLLIERY COMPANY LIMITED

It is the Directors’ responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Company. 

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the financial statements.

The Directors have assessed the ability of Hwange Colliery Company Limited to continue operating as a going concern 

and believe that the preparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is still appropriate. However, 

the Directors believe that under the current economic environment a continuous assessment of the Company’s ability 

to continue to operate as a going concern will need to be performed to determine the continued appropriateness of the 

going concern assumption that has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements.

The statements set out in this report have been prepared by mangement in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The statements are based on appropriate accounting policies which are supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Company’s accounting and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the 

integrity and reliability of the financial statements and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of 

its assets. Such controls are based on written policies and procedures and all employees  are required to maintain the 

highest level of ethical standards in ensuring that the Company’s business practices are conducted in a manner which 

in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach.

The Company’s financial statements which are set out on pages 45 to 86 were, in accordance with their responsibilities, 

approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: 

J. CHININGA  S. T. MAKORE 
ACTING CHAIRMAN  MANAGING DIRECTOR

24 March 2016

Directors` Responsibility and
Approval of Financial Statements
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I, Allen Masiya, in my capacity as the Acting Company Secretary 
of Hwange Colliery Company Limited do hereby certify that, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged 
with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required 
to be lodged by a public entity in terms of the Companies Act  
(Chapter 24:03) of the Republic of Zimbabwe, for the year ended 
31 December 2015 and that all such returns are true, correct 
and up to date.

ALLEN MASIYA  
ACTING COMPANY SECRETARY

24 March 2016

...the Audit Commitee in liason with 
independent advisors have been tasked to 
come up with measures of strengthening 
the governance structures ...

“ “

Company Secretary`s 
Certification

Allen Masiya
Acting Company Secretary
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The Directors of Hwange Colliery Company Limited have the pleasure to present their report, together with the audited 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Name  Shareholding  Percentage    
   (shares)  (%)

Government of Zimbabwe  67 555 968  36.77

Messina Investments Limited (NNR)  30 249 186  16.46

Mittal Steel African Investments  17 777 034  9.68

National Social Security Authority  11 445 761  6.23

Hamilton and Hamilton Trustees LTD-NNR  9 415 970  5.13

SHARE CAPITAL
The authorized share capital of the Company is 204 000 000 ordinary shares of USD	0.25 each.  The issued and fully 
paid up share capital stood at 183 720 699 ordinary shares of USD	0.25 each. The Directors have control over the 
unissued ordinary shares amounting to 20 279 301 of USD	0.25 each which are set aside strictly for the employee share 
option scheme.

BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2015, loans payable within one year amounted to USD	25.8	million (USD	11	051	683 in 2014). The 
increase is attributed to the loans from Exim Bank of India for the procurement of equipment from BEML of India and 
a loan of USD 2 million from Agribank. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on fixed assets for the year amounted to USD	32	680	228 (USD 56 479 in 2014) and was mainly on the 
acquisition of mining equipment financed through negotiated medium term credit facilities.

The Company’s total property, plant and equipment amounted to USD 136 344 524 (USD	129	078	977	in 2014).

DIRECTORATE
In terms of the Articles of Association, Messrs Winston Chitando, Wencelaus Tarugarira Kutekwatekwa and Mrs 
Ntombizodwa Masuku retire by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The retiring Directors, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Their brief resumes are on page 25 to 29 of this Annual Report.

Directors` Report
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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INCOME AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Company’s Income and Appropriations Statements as at 31 December 2015 stood as follows:

 

AUDITORS 
The Auditors of the Company, Messrs Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe), hold office until the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting at which Shareholders will be requested to approve the appointment of the 
Auditors for the ensuing year.

Shareholders will be required to also approve the remuneration of the Auditors for the year ended 31 December 2015.

STOCK EXCHANGES
The following additional information is provided with the requirements of the stock exchanges:

i. All the Company’s sales and profit, were made and realized  in Africa south of the equator;
ii  There were no contracts with the Company in which any Director had an interest whether during or as at the end 

of the financial year; and 
iii. The borrowings as at 31 December 2015 are summarized as follows:

Borrowings:
 2015 2014
 USD USD

Authorised Borrowings
Three times Shareholder’s equity  - 113 686 095
Actual borrowings 51 111 096 11 051 683

By Order of the Board

ALLEN MASIYA
ACTING COMPANY SECRETARY 

24 March 2016

        
        2015  2014
        USD  USD
 

 Operating loss before interest and tax  (99 727 098 ) (51 540 220 )

 Net finance costs     (5 548 984 ) (3 701 723 )

 Share of loss from equity accounted investments  (413 134 ) (1 123 788 )

 Loss before taxation     (105 689 216 ) (56 365 731 )

 Taxation      (9 367 557 ) 18 499 846

 Loss for the year     (115 056 773 ) (37 865 885 )

 Retained loss brought forward   (53 625 190 ) (15 759 305 )

 Retained loss carried forward   (168 681 963 ) (53 625 190 )

Directors` Report (cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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Report of the Independent Auditors
TO THE MEMBERS OF HWANGE COLLIERY COMPANY LIMITED 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 
Hwange Colliery Company Limited set out on pages 45 to 86, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2015, and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by 
the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03). This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements whether due to error and fraud. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

GOING CONCERN
In forming our opinion on these financial statements, we have 
considered the implications of the following material challenges 
which are disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements:

As described in notes 34.1 and 34.2 to these financial 
statements, the Company incurred a loss for the year of 
USD115	056	773	(2014:	USD37	865	885) and, as at 31 December 
2015, the Company’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by 
USD77	834	232.

As more fully disclosed in note 34.3 to these financial 
statements, the Company was a subject of various lawsuits in 
2015 for failure to meet its obligations. The outcome of various 
other pending lawsuits in which the Company is a defendant 
cannot presently be determined. The Company has not been 
able to settle some of the obligations in respect of those cases 
for which default judgements were passed against it by the 
courts. The Company has filed opposing affidavits to appear in 
courts and preliminary hearings and discovery proceedings in 
these cases are in progress. The outcome and effect of possible 

Grant Thornton
Camelsa Business Park

135 Enterprise Road, Highlands
PO Box CY 2619

Causeway, Harare
Zimbabwe

T +263 4 442511-4
F +263 4 442517 / 496985

E info@zw.gt.com
www.grantthornton.co.zw
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actions that may be taken by creditors cannot presently be 
determined, and no provision for any additional liability that may 
arise has been made in the financial statements.

Note 34 to these financial statements indicates that the 
Company’s directors have initiated plans to address these 
challenges through the following, amongst other turnaround 
initiatives: 
•	 	A	rights	issue	of	shares	which	will	result	in	a	debt	to	equity	

swap of USD 69.1 million and a maximum cash injection of 
USD 39.4 million, dependent on the level of uptake;

•	 	A	debt	restructuring	plan	currently	being	pursued	through	
the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe in terms of which debt 
instruments would be issued to existing creditors towards 
settlement of outstanding amounts;

•	 	A	prefinancing	arrangement	of	USD 7.5 million with one of 
its major customers for the supply of coal;

•	 	The	 refurbishment	 of	 the	 continuous	 miner,	 shuttle	 cars	
and other equipment required to resume the underground 
mining operations; 

•	 	Review	 of	 arrangements/agreements	 entered	 into	 with	
contractors to reduce contractor costs; and

•	 	Restructuring	of	the	company’s	management	structure	and	
review of board fees which is expected to result in a reduction 
in compensation to key management and board fees by 50%, 
as part of initiatives by directors to reduce costs.

The ability of the Company to continue to operate as a going 
concern is dependent on the success of the initiatives currently 
being pursued. The Directors have not been able to provide us 
with a commitment in the form of a resolution from shareholders 
regarding the rights issue, a letter of undertaking from the 
Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe regarding issuance of the proposed 
debt instruments referred to in note 34, and the agreement(s) 
relating to the prefinancing arrangement of USD 7.5 million, as 
the processes regarding finalisation of these initiatives was on-
going at the time of issuing this report. Accordingly, we were 
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the possible outcome of the turnaround initiatives disclosed in 
Note 34. 

Financial results of equity accounted investments included in 
the financial statements not audited

As described in note 17 to these financial statements, included 
in equity accounted investments are the Company’s share of 
losses from its investments in associates and joint ventures. 
The financial statements of the associates and the joint venture 
company have not been audited. Accordingly, we were unable to 
determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to the 
share of loss from equity accounted investments, and the effect 
this might have on the financial statements. 

QUALIFIED OPINION
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described 
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Hwange Colliery Company Limited as at 31 December 
2015, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

REPORT ON LEGAL AND OTHER REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
accounting policies and comply with the disclosure requirements 
of the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) and the relevant statutory 
instruments SI 32/99 and SI 33/96.

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) 31 March 2016
Registered Public Auditors
HARARE

Report of the 
Independant Auditors (cont’d)
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  Notes 2015	 	 2014
   USD   USD 
      
Revenue  5 67 576 220  83 918 846
Cost of sales    (101 345 965 ) (92 873 146 )

Gross loss    (33 769 745 ) (8 954 300 )
Other income  6 470 858  694 761
Other gains and losses-net 7 (19 007 ) (5 425 101 )
Marketing costs    (1 314 953 )  (1 486 861 )
Administrative costs    (60 628 370 ) (27 862 294 )
Redundancy costs  8 -   (5 053 909 )
Impairment loss  9  (4 465 881 )  (3 452 516 )

Operating loss before interest and tax   (99 727 098 ) (51 540 220 )
Finance costs  10  (5 548 984 ) (3 701 723 )
Share of loss from equity accounted investments 11 (413 134  )  (1 123 788 )

Loss before tax  12  (105 689 216 ) (56 365 731 )
Income tax (expense)/credit 13  (9 367 557 ) 18 499 846

LOSS FOR THE YEAR   (115 056 773 )  (37 865 885 )

Other comprehensive income:
Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investments, net of tax  -  -

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  -   -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (115 056 773 ) (37 865 885 )

Attributable loss per share   - basic   14.1  (0.63 ) (0.21 )
      - diluted   14.2  (0.63 ) (0.21 )
Headline loss per share      - basic   14.3  (0.61 )  (0.19 )
      - diluted   14.4  (0.61 ) (0.19 )

Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 December 2015
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 Notes 2015		 2014
  USD  USD

ASSETS
Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 136 344 524  129 078 977
Investment property 16 3 700 000  3 700 000
Investments accounted for using the equity method 17 16 181 534  16 594 668
Intangible assets 18 1 238 371  1 590 041
Deferred tax asset 13.3  -      9 367 557 
Invemtory-non current portion 19 15 009 021   -
  
  172 437 450  160 331 243

Current assets
Stripping activity asset 20 4 849 819  7 290 468 
Inventories 21 29 389 463  41 446 180 
Trade and other receivables 22 31 887 617  37 784 545 
Cash and cash equivalents  24  502 630   956 810 
  
  66 629 529  87 478 003 

Total assets  239 102 979  247 809 246

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves     
Share capital 25.1 45 962 789  45 962 789 
Share premium 25.2  577 956   577 956 
Non-distributable reserve 25.3 4 358 468  4 358 468 
Revaluation reserve 25.4 39 948 518  39 948 518 
Accumulated losses   (168 681 963 )  (53 625 190 )
  
  (77 834 232)  37 222 541 

Non current liabilities     
Finance lease liability 27 3 834 644   800 000 
Borrowings 28.1 25 824 359   - 
  
  29 659 003   800 000 

Current liabilities     
Finance lease liability 27 17 491 624   261 570 
Borrowings 28.2 3 960 469  10 790 113 
Trade and other payables 29 241 505 888  187 482 799 
Provisions 30 14 265 377  10 848 723 
Current income tax liability 31 10 054 850   403 500 
  
  287 278 208  209 786 705 
  
Total equity and liabilities  239 102 979  247 809 246

J. CHININGA     S. T. MAKORE 
ACTING CHAIRMAN     MANAGING DIRECTOR

24 March 2016

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2015
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   Non-  
 Share Share distributable Revaluation Accumulated   
 capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
 USD USD USD USD USD USD

Balance at 1 January 2014 45 962 789 577 956 4 358 468 39 948 518  (15 759 305) 75 088 426

       

Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  -  -  (37 865 885)  (37 865 885)

       

Balance at 31 December 2014 45 962 789 577 956 4 358 468 39 948 518  (53 625 190)  37 222 541 

       

Balance at 1 January 2015 45 962 789 577 956 4 358 468 39 948 518  (53 625 190)   37 222 541 

       

Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  -  -  (115 056 773)  (115 056 773)

       

Balance at 31 December 2015 45 962 789  577 956 4 358 468 39 948 518 (168 681 963)  (77 834 232)

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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   2015  2014
  Notes USD  USD
  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIvITIES

Loss before tax   (105 689 216 )  (56 365 731 )
Adjustment for non-cash items:
 Unrealised exchange loss   19 007  430 101
 Share of loss from equity accounted investments   413 134  1 123 788
 Finance costs  5 548 984  3 701 723
 Depreciation and amortisation charge for the year  16 947 757  12 236 454
 Impairment loss  4 465 881  3 452 516
 Inventory write down and other  6 677 787   -
 Fair value adjustment on financial assets    -  4 645 
      
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital  (71 616 673 ) (35 416 504 )

Changes in working capital:     
 (Increase)/ decrease in inventory  (2 952 304 )  906 798
 Decrease/(increase) in receivables  5 896 928  (3 166 030 )
 Increase in provisions  3 416 654  1 224 685
 Increase in current tax liability  9 651 350  -
 Increase in payables  54 023 089  54 593 220

Cash (utilised in)/ generated from operating activities   (1 580 956 ) 18 142 169

Interest paid  (571 910 ) (3 249 810 )
Tax paid   -   (673 597 )

Net cash flows (utilised in) / generated from operating activities   (2 152 866 ) 14 218 762

CASH FLOWS FROM INvESTING ACTIvITIES

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (30 804 938 )  (346 840 )
Proceeds from the disposal of assets   -   -

Net cash flows utilised in investing activities  (30 804 938 )  (346 840 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIvITIES

Proceeds from borrowings  33 095 739  1 511 203
Repayment of borrowings   (433 882 )  (10 631 690 )

Net cash flows generated from/ (utilised in) financing activities  32 661 857   (9 120 487 )

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents   (295 947 ) 4 751 435
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  761 924   (3 989 511 )

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 24  465 977   761 924

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year 31 December 2015
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Statement of Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 December 2015

1 NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GENERAL INFORMATION        
         
  Hwange Colliery  Company Limited is a Company whose principal activities include extraction, processing and distribution 

of coal and coal products and provision of health services and various retail goods and services. Its activities are grouped 
into the following three (3) main service lines:        
 

 i)  Mining - the extracting, processing and distribution of coal and coal products;     
 ii)  Medical services - provides healthcare to staff members and the sorrounding community; and   
 iii) Estates - the division provides properties for rental and sell retail goods and services.    
            
  The Company is a limited liability Company incorporated and domiciled in Zimbabwe. It is listed primarily on the Zimbabwe 

Stock Exchange (ZSE), and has secondary listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) and London Stock Exchange 
(LSE).         

          
 The Company’s financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on the 24 March 2016.  
       
 Presentation currency         
          
  These financial statements are presented in United States Dollars being the functional and reporting currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the Company operates.       
  

2 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE         
          
  The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements are based 
on statutory records that are maintained under the historical cost convention.       
  

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES         
 
	 3.1	 New	and	revised	standards	and	interpretations	-	Adopted       
  
   Ammendments made to IFRS that became effective in 2015 have no material impact on the Company’s financial 

results or position. Accordingly the Company did not make any changes to its accounting policies in 2015.  
       

	 3.2	 	New	Standards,	amendments	and	interpretations	to	existing	standards	that	are	not	yet	effective	and	have	not	
been adopted early by the Company        
 

  IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’        
 
   “IFRS 15 presents new requirements for the recognition of revenue, replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 

‘Construction Contracts’, and several revenue-related Interpretations. The new standard establishes a control-
based revenue recognition model and provides additional guidance in many areas not covered in detail under 
existing IFRSs, including how to account for arrangements with multiple performance obligations, variable 
pricing, customer refund rights, supplier repurchase options, and other common complexities.

          
   IFRS 15 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Company’s management 

have not yet assessed the impact of IFRS 15 on these financial statements.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
for the year 31 December 2015

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)        
 
 Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements        
 
  These amendments provide guidance on the accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations constituting 

a business. The amendments require all such transactions to be accounted for using the principles on business 
combinations accounting in IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and other IFRSs except where those principles conflict with 
IFRS 11. Acquisitions of interests in joint ventures are not impacted by this new guidance.     
          

  The Company’s only investment made to date in a joint arrangement is characterised as a joint venture in which the 
Company has rights to a share of the arrangement’s net assets rather than direct rights to underlying assets and 
obligations for underlying liabilities. Accordingly, if adopted today, these amendments would not have a material impact 
on the financial statements.         

          
 The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.     
    
 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014)         
  The IASB recently released IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014), representing the completion of its project to replace IAS 

39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement’. The new standard introduces extensive changes to IAS 39’s 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new expected credit loss’ model 
for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application of hedge accounting. The 
Company’s management have yet to assess the impact of IFRS 9 on these financial statements. The new standard is 
required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.     
    

4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES         
 
 4.1 Overall considerations        
          
   The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type 

of asset, liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting 
policies below:        

          
 4.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures        
  Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.     
    
   The carrying amount of the investments is increased or decreased to recognise the Company’s share of the profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. These changes include subsequent 
depreciation, amortisation or impairment of the fair value adjustments of the assets and liabilities.   
     

            
   Unrealised gains on transactions between the Company and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to 

the extent of the Company’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying 
asset is also tested for impairment.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2015

4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 4.3 Revenue recognition
   Revenue comprises revenue from the sale of goods and the rendering of services. Revenue is measured by 

reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable by the Company for goods supplied and 
services provided, excluding sales taxes, rebates, and trade discounts.

 
 4.3.1 Sale of goods
   Revenue from sale of coal and related products is recognised when the Company has transferred to the buyer 

the significant risks and rewards of ownership, generally when the customer has taken undisputed delivery of 
the goods.

 4.3.2 Dividend income
   Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the Shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 

established.

 4.3.3 Interest income 
   Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at effective interest 

rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts, through the expected 
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

 
 4.3.4 Rendering of services
   Revenue from the rendering of services from the hospital, estates and investment property is recognised in the 

accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to completion of the specific transaction 
assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

 4.4 Operating expenses
   Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their origin. 

Expenditure for warranties is recognised and charged against the associated provision when the related revenue 
is recognised.

 4.5 Finance costs
  Finance costs are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.

 4.6 Earnings per share
   The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 

calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary Shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to 
employees.

 4.7	 Property,	plant	and	equipment
   Freehold land and buildings and property, plant and machinery are stated at historical cost less depreciation 

and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items.

   Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
for the year 31 December 2015

4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

	 4.7	 Property,	plant	and	equipment
    Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to capital reserves in 

the Shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against capital 
reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss. Each year the difference, between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to statement of comprehensive 
income and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost, is transferred from ‘’capital reserves’’ to ‘’retained 
earnings’’.  

 4.7.1 Depreciation
   Land, capital work in progress and pre-stripped overburden are not depreciated. All other property, plant and 

equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis or amortised at rates estimated to write-off the cost or 
valuation of such assets over their expected useful lives.

  The expected useful lives are as follows:

  Buildings  35 to 40 years 
  Permanent works  7 to 40 years
  Plant, machinery and movable equipment  7 to 30 years 
  Motor vehicles  5 years

   The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

  
   An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
 
 4.7.2 Gains and losses on disposal
   Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 

recognised within other income in profit or loss.

 4.8	 Intangible	assets
   Intangible assets include acquired mining rights and acquired and internally developed software used in 

production or administration that qualify for recognition as an intangible assets. They are accounted for using 
the cost model whereby capitalised costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives, as these assets are considered finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. 
In addition, they are subject to impairment testing. The following useful lives are applied: 

  Mining rights   - amortised over the estimated life of coal reserves
  ERP and other software’  - 10 years

   Amortisation charge for the year is included within ‘depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial 
assets’.

  
   Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install 

the specific software. Subsequent expenditure on brands is expensed as incurred. Costs associated with 
maintaining computer software, i.e. expenditure relating to patches and other minor updates as well as their 
installation, are expensed as incurred.
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4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 4.9	 Impairment	of	non-financial	assets
     Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment, whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’ s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lower levels for which there are separate identifiable cash 
flows (cash- generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment, are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

 4.10	 Investment	property
   Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is measured initially 

at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at 
fair value determined by external independent valuers’. Investment property is not subject to depreciation. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are recognised in profit or loss.

   On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount is charged or credited to profit or loss; any amounts on capital reserves relating to that investment 
property are transferred to retained earnings.

 4.11 Financial assets
   The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss and 

loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

 
 4.11.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is 

classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also 
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets.

   The Company’s financial assets are marketable securities that are carried at market value, which is calculated 
by reference to quoted selling prices at the date of business on the reporting date. 

 4.11.2 Loans and receivables
   Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the reporting date. These are classified as non-current assets. The Company’s loans and receivables 
comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement of financial position.

  4.11.3  Trade receivables
   Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 

the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within ‘’selling and 
marketing costs’’. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against ‘’selling and 
marketing costs’’ in profit or loss.

Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

  4.11.4  Cash and cash equivalents
    Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 

liquid investments and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on 
the reporting date.

 4.12 Stripping activity asset
   Stripping asset activity represents the cost of overburden removed to expose coal and is capitalised during the 

course of development. The portion relating to reserves expected to be mined in the next twelve months (12) is 
transferred to current assets and is charged to cost of production as the coal is mined whilst the portion that is 
expected to be mined after twenty four (24) months is recognised under non-current assets as other assets.

 4.13 Inventories
   Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of consumable stores is determined 

using the weighted average cost method. The cost of finished goods is determined on an average cost of 
production basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses.

 4.14 Share capital 
  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities.
   Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 

net of tax, from the proceeds.

   Where a Company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, 
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable 
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently 
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the 
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

 4.15 Current and deferred income tax
   The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity.

   The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

   
   Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the deferred 
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit 
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised 
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

 
   Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

   Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in associates, except where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
for the year 31 December 2015
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4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

  4.16 Leases
   Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

   Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on 
the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included 
in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the statement of profit or 
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over 
the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

 4.17 Dividend distribution
   Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s Shareholders.

 4.18	 Trade	payables
   Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method.
 
 4.19 Borrowings
   Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
 
   Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent 

that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the 
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the 
facility to which it relates.

   Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

 4.20	 Employee	benefits

 4.20.1	 Pension	and	retirement	schemes
   The Company is a member of the Mining Industry Pension Fund which is independently administered as a 

defined contribution scheme. All full time permanent employees are members and the scheme provides for 
contributions by both employer and employee. The Company’s contributions to the defined contribution pension 
plans are charged to statement of profit or loss in the year to which they relate. The Company and all employees 
must contribute to the National Social Security Authority statutory pension and benefits scheme, which is a 
defined contribution scheme.

 4.20.2	 Equity	compensation	benefits
   The stock option program allows employees to acquire shares in the Company. When the options are exercised 

equity is increased by the amount of the proceeds received.

 4.20.3	 Short-term	employee	benefits
   Short term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are measured at an undiscounted amount and 

recognised as an expense in the profit or loss during the period in which the services are rendered. Short term 
benefits expected to be paid are recognised as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already 
paid.

Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
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4 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

  4.21 Provisions
   Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has 
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

   Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of 
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be remote.

   Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

 4.22 Segment reporting 
   The Company has three operating segments: the Mining, Medical Services and Estates. In identifying these 

operating segments, management generally follows the Company’s service lines representing its main products 
and services.

 
   Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different technologies, marketing 

approaches and other resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length basis.

   For management purposes, the Company uses the same measurement policies as those used in its financial 
statements. 

 4.23 Related parties
  For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Company if:
 
 4.23.1  The party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to control the Company or 

exercise significant influence over the Company in making financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint 
control over the Company;

 4.23.2 The Company and the party are subject to common control;

 4.23.3 The party is an associate of the Company or a joint venture in which the Company is a venturer;

 4.23.4  The party is a member of key management personnel of the Company or the Company’s parent, or a close 
family member of such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant influence of 
such individuals;

 4.23.5  The party is a close family member of a party referred to in 4.23.1 or is an entity under the control, joint control 
or significant influence of such individuals or; and

 4.23.6  The party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the Company or of any 
entity that is a related party of the Company.

  Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.time. Changes to the estimated future costs for operating sites are 
recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the restoration and rehabilitation provision.

Statement of Accounting Policies (cont’d)
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5  REvENUE  

      Restated 
    2015  2014
   Notes USD   USD 
       
 Mining   57 966 532  72 031 451
 Medical services    999 131  1 039 529 
 Estates   8 610 557  10 847 866
    
    67 576 220  83 918 846

5.1 Change in acounting policy
  The company’s business model was reviewed and a divisional strategy was implemented in 2015. As a result, the company 

changed its accounting policy with effect to the recognition of revenue earned from Medical Services and Estates business 
units. In accordance with International Accounting Standards 8 “Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors”, the financial statements have therefore been prepared on the basis of a retrospective application of the voluntary 
change in accounting policy.

  The previous accounting policy was to offset the revenue against the divisional expenses. The new accounting policy was 
adopted on 30 June 2015 and has been applied retrospectively. The effect of this change is as follows:

  
  As reported  Adjustments Restated
  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
   USD USD  USD USD USD USD
 

Revenue 72 031 451  71 540 667  11 887 395  13 910 979  83 918 846  85 451 646 

Cost of sales  (82 320 263 ) (81 957 758 ) (10 552 883 ) (11 664 785 ) (92 873 146 )  (93 622 543 )

Gross loss  (10 288 812 )  (10 417 091 )  -   -   (8 954 300 )  (8 170 897 ) 

Other income  694 761   936 849   -   -   694 761  936 849 

Other gains(or losses) - net  (5 425 101 )  (504 314 )  -   -   (5 425 101 )  (504 314 )

Marketing costs  (1 486 861 )  (2 738 360 ) -   -   (1 486 861 ) (2 738 360 )

Administrative expenses  (26 527 782 )  (27 652 799 )  (1 334 512 ) (2 246 194 ) (27862 294 ) (29 898 993 )

Other operating expenses  (8 506 425 )  -   -   -  (8 506 425 )  -  

Loss from operations  (51 540 220 )  (40 375 715 )     (51 540 220 )  (40 375 715 )

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015

  

5     REvENUE (CONTINUED)

 5.2 Segment reporting
   The Company’s business model has been reviewed and a divisionalisation strategy was implemented in 2015. This has 

resulted in a change in the revenue recognition policy in respect of revenue earned from Medical Services and Estates 
business units, which was previously set off against administrative expenses. This change has no effect on equity and 
financials for the year ended 31 December 2014 were restated accordingly. Segment information for the reporting period 
is as follows:

     Medical  
    Mining services Estates  Total  
     USD USD USD USD

 2015
 Revenue
 From external customers 57  966 532  999 131 8 610 557 67  576 220
 From other segments  - 2 802 723  823 559 3  626 282
 
 Segment revenues  57 966 532 3 801 854  9 434 116  71  202 502
 
 Other income   330 514 140 344  -   470 858
 Cost of sales  (90 438 964) (3 704 554) (7 202 447)  (101 345 965)
 Other gains / (losses) (19 007)  -  -  (19 007)
 Marketing costs  (1 314 953)  -  -  (1 314 953)
 Administration expenses  (61 812 711) (234 567) (2 207 374)  (64 254 652)
 Other costs   (4 465 881)  -  -  (4 465 881)

 Segment operating (loss)/profit (99 754 470) 3 077  24 295  (99 727 098)
 
 Segment assets  136 344 524  -  - 136 344 524
 
	 2014
 Revenue
 From external customers 72 031 45 1 039 529 10 847 866 83 918 846
 From other segments  - 2 540 564  95 566 2 636 130
 
 Segment revenues  72 031 451 3 580 093 10 943 432 86 554 976
 
 Other income   653 581 41 180 - 694 761
 Cost of sales   (82 320 263)  (4 028 746)  (6 524 137)  (92 873 146)
 Other gains / (losses)  (5 425 101)  - -  (5 425 101)
 Marketing costs   (1 486 861) - - (1 486 861)
 Administration expenses  (31 373 574)  (244 151)  (1 516 829)  (33 134 554)
 Other costs   (8 506 425)  -  -  (8 506 425)

 Segment operating (loss)/profit  (56 427 192)  (651 624)   2 902 466     (54 176 350)

 Segment assets  129 078 977  -  - 129 078 977

  Management currently identifies the Company’s three business lines as its operating segments (see note 4.22). 
These operating segments are monitored by the Company’s Board of Directors and strategic decisions are made 
on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.
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5  REvENUE (CONTINUED)  

       Restated 
     2015  2014
     USD   USD 
       
 5.2 Segment reporting (continued)

   The Company’s revenues from external customers are divided into the
  following geographical areas:

  Sales within Zimbabwe  62  246 558  64  300 926
  Sales elsewhere in Sub Saharan Africa  5  329 662  7  730 525
 
  Total revenue  67  576 220  72  031 451

6 OTHER INCOME
 
 Rental income    336 303  301 232
 Sale of scrap metal    50 463  352 848
 Interest on debtors    -  5 168
 Insurance claims    10 000  -
 Sundry income    74 092  35 513  
     
     470 858   694 761
7 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES-NET
 
 Foreign exchange loss  19 007  430 101
 Loss arising from settlement of a legal claim   -  4 995 000  
     
     19 007  5 425 101

8 REDUNDANCY COSTS
 
 Balance at 31 December   -  5 053 909

  As a result of the implementation of the ERP system, some roles were made redundant and resulted in the initiation of a 
retrenchment programme in 2012. This matter was concluded in 2014. The total retrenchment cost amounted to USD	5	053	
909.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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9. IMPAIRMENT LOSS  

    2015  2014
    USD   USD 
      
Impairment of coke oven battery  3 648 127  2 478 958 
An impairment loss of USD	3	648	127	(2014:	USD2	478	958) was recognised for the 
coke oven battery which was de-commissioned in June 2014.      
       
The recoverable amount of the coke oven battery of	USD	13	869	724 is its fair
value less cost of disposal. The fair value was determined on a net replacement 
basis based on the average cost of refurbishing the battery as determined by 
consultants engaged by the Company.      
       
Impairment of Terex coal haulers   -   880 934 
An impairment loss of USD	nil	(2014:	880	934) was recognised for Terex coal 
haulers which were no longer in use. The carrying amount of USD	880	934 was
 written off as impairment.      
       
Impairment of buildings     -   84 435 
An impairment loss of USD	nil		(2014:	84	435) was recognised for buildings which
 were damaged and have become inhabitable. The carrying amount of USD	84	435	
was written off as impairment.      
       
Impairment of motor vehicles   2 000   8 189 
Motor vehicles which were accident damaged beyond repair with a carrying amount
of USD	2	000	(2014	:	USD	8	189) were written off as impairment.      
       
Impairment of Enterprise Resource Planning software and Mining rights  118 734   - 
        
Impairment of	USD	118	734	(2014	:	nil) relates to Mitras and Minescape software
purchased by the Company in 2011.      
       
Impairment of plant and machinery   697 020   - 
Impairment of USD	50	000 was recognised on the BELAZ front end loader which 
was damaged by an electrical fault and USD	647	020 on a crusher and drill 
purchased from Turbo at amounts above fair value, determined by and independent valuer.     
       
Total impairment loss   4 465 881  3 452 516 

10 FINANCE COSTS
 Interest on loans and overdrafts  3 445 250  3 104 112
 Interest on leases   2 103 734  597 611
    
    5 548 984  3 701 723

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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       Restated 
     2015	 	 2014
     USD   USD 
       
11 SHARE OF LOSSES FROM EQUITY ACCOUNTED INvESTMENTS      
      
 Included in this amount is the Company’s share of loss after tax from:      
 Clay Products (Private) Limited*  (215 057 )   (450 964 )
 Hwange Coal Gasification Company*  (198 077 ) (672 824 )
    
     (413 134 )  (1 123 788 )

 The share of loss of Zimchem Refiners (Private) Limited was not recorded in 
 these financial statements as the share of cumulative losses for Zimchem 
 Refiners (Private) Limited exceed the carrying amount of the investment in the associate.

12 LOSS BEFORE TAX
 
 Loss before tax for the year has been arrived at after charging the following:

 Audit fees   146 150   155 340
 Amortisation    240 641   212 863
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  16 864 323  12 236 454
 Directors’ emoluments: 
 - Non-Executive Directors  354 827   316 552
 - Executive Directors  228 149   354 599
 Allowance for credit losses  2 008 114  1 346 703
 Impairment loss (note 9)  4 465 881  3 452 516
 Zimbabwe Revenue Authority investigation penalty (note 12.1)  28 491 916   -
 Employee benefits expense (note 12.2)  41 777 078  43 318 976

 12.1 Zimbabwe Revenue Authority investigation penalty

    The Company was under a ZIMRA tax investigation in relation to an amount of 
   USD7	412	990 for employee tax (Pay As You Earn) and USD35	928	420 in 
  respect of Value Added Tax and Witholding Tax. The final tax assessment was 
  issued by the tax authority on 20 November 2015, confirming an additional 
  liability of USD	28	491	916. The financial statements have been adjusted to 
  reflect this position.

 12.2 Employee benefits expense    
  
   Salaries and other contributions  39 450 659  41 380 629
  Contribution to Mining Industry Pension Fund  1 559 320  1 416 752
  Contribution to National Social Security Authority   767 099   521 595
    
     41 777 078  43 318 976
         
  Employee benefit expense amounting to USD	24	321	997		(2014:	USD	28	961	
  631) was charged directly to cost of sales.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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      Restated 
	 	 	 	 2015	 	 2014
    USD   USD 
       
13 INCOME TAX

 13.1 Current tax:

  Current tax    -   -
  Deferred tax   9 367 557   (18 499 846 )

  Income tax expense / (credit)  9 367 557   (18 499 846)

 13.2 Tax reconciliation:

  Loss before tax  (105 689 216 ) (56 365 731 )

  Notional tax thereon at a rate of 25.75%  (27 214 973 ) (14 514 176 )

  Tax effect of:
  Non deductible/(taxable) items
  - Income not subject to tax  -  (5 489 915 )
  - Expenses not deductible in determing tax  12 657 770  1 504 245
  Unrecognised tax losses  23 924 760   -

  Tax expense/(credit)  9 367 557   (18 499 846 )

 13.3 Deferred tax
  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
  right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the 
  deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
  same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
  where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

 13.4 Deferred tax movement
  Balance at 1 January  (9 367 557 ) 9 132 289 
  Debit / (credit) to profit or loss  9 367 557  (18 499 846 ) 
 
  Balance at 31 December   -  (9 367 557 )

 13.5 Deferred tax liabilities:
 
  Capital allowances and other
  Balance at 1 January  24 036 246  31 758 227
  Debit / (credit) to profit or loss  5 682 013   (7 721 981 )

  Balance at 31 December  29 718 259  24 036 246

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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13 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

      Restated 
    2015  2014
    USD   USD 
       
 13.6 Deferred tax assets:

  Assessed loss     
  Balance at 1 January  (33 403 803 ) (22 625 938 )
  Debit / (credit) to profit or loss  3 685 544  (10 777 865 )

  Balance at 31 December  (29 718 259 ) (33 403 803 )

   As at year end, the Company had assessed tax losses amounting to USD	208	322	404	(2014:	USD	129	723	506).The 
amount of deferred taxation asset recognised in relation to the assessed loss has been limited to USD	29	718	259 due 
to recurring losses and unavailability of future taxable temporary differences.    

    
   The unrecognised assessed loss of USD	92	 911	 690 will be deducted in future when the Company has sufficient 

temporary deductible differences.    
    
14 LOSS PER SHARE

 14.1 Basic
  Loss attributable to shareholders  (115 056 773 ) (37 865 885 )
  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  183 851 154  183 851 154
  Basic loss per share  (0.63 ) (0.21 )

   Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased by the Company 
and held as treasury shares.

 14.2 Diluted
   For diluted loss per share the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion  

  of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares being share 
options granted to employees.

   The loss used in the calculation of all diluted loss per share measures are the same as those for the equivalent basic  
 loss per share measures, as outlined above. 

   In diluted loss per share the share options calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been 
acquired (determined as the average annual share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the 
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. This calculation serves to determine the “ unpurchased “ 
shares to be added to the ordinary shares outstanding for the purpose of computing the dilution; for the share option 
calculation no adjustment is made to profit. 

  Loss used to determine diluted loss per share  (115 056 773 ) (37 865 885 ) 
  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issues  183 851 154  183 851 154
 
  Diluted loss per share  (0.63 ) (0.21 )

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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      Restated 
    2015  2014
    USD   USD 
       
14 LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

 14.3 Headline loss per share
  Headline loss per share excludes all items of a capital nature and represents 
  an after tax amount. It is calculated by dividing the headline loss shown below 
  by the number of shares in issue during the year:

  IAS 33 - Loss for the year  (115 056 773 ) (37 865 885 )

  Non	-	recurring	items:
  Proceeds on sale of scrap  (50 463 ) (352 848 ) 
  Impairment of property, plant and equipment  4 465 881  3 452 516
  Tax effect of the above  (1 136 970 ) (798 165 )

  Headline loss  (111 778 325 ) (35 564 382 ) 
  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  183 851 154  183 851 154
  
  Headline loss per share  (0.61 ) (0.19 )

 14.4 Diluted Headline loss per share  
  Loss used to determine diluted headline loss per share  (111 778 325 ) (35 564 382 )
  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issues  183 851 154  183 851 154
 
  Diluted headline loss per share  (0.61 ) (0.19 )
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    Plant,
   Freehold land  machinery and Motor Capital work
   and buildings movables vehicles in progress Total 
   USD USD USD USD USD

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUPMENT

 Cost/ gross carrying amount
 Balance at 1 January 103 017 842 68 543 869 3 756 594 22 431 920 197 750 225
 Additions   - 30 676 719 36 000 1 967 509 32 680 228
 Charge to profit or loss - - - (4 360 425)  (4 360 425)
 Transfer to plant and machinery - 17 164 520 2 875  (17 167 395)  -

 Balance 31 December  103 017 842 116 385 108 3 795 469 2 871 609 226 070 028 
 
 Depreciation and impairment
 Balance at 1 January 25 867 054 39 833 669 2 970 525 - 68 671 248
 Depreciation charge for the year 2 665 118 13 626 542 415 449 - 16 707 109
 Impairment charge for the year - 4 345 147 2 000 - 4 347 147

 Balance 31 December 28 532 172 57 805 358 3 387 974 - 89 725 504

 Carrying	amount	31	December	 74	485	670	 58	579	750	 407	495	 2	871	609	 136	344	524

 Year	ended	31	December	2014

 Cost/ gross carrying amount
 Balance at 1 January 103 017 842 63 284 615 3 582 703 22 226 586 192 111 746
 Additions  - 5 259 254 173 891 205 334 5 638 479

 Balance 31 December  103 017 842 68 543 869 3 756 594 22 431 920 197 750 225

 Depreciation and impairment
 Balance at 1 January 23 080 245 27 502 443 2 399 590 - 52 982 278
 Depreciation charge for the year 2 702 374 8 971 334 562 746 - 12 236 454
 Impairment  84 435 3 359 892 8 189 - 3 452 516
        
 Balance 31 December  25 867 054 39 833 669 2 970 525  - 68 671 248
        
 Carrying	amount	31	December	 77	150	788	 28	710	200	 786	069	 22	431	920	 129	078	977
        
  Movable machinery valued at USD	15	000	000 has been pledged as security for long term borrowings as more fully disclosed 

in note 27. There is a Notarial General Covering Bond over the Company’s machinery and equipment.
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15 PROPERTY PLANT & EQUPMENT (CONTINUED)

 15.1 Finance lease arrangements

   The Company has certain property that is held under a finance lease arrangement. As at 31 December 2015, the   
  carrying amount of the property is	USD	873	263	(2014: USD 971 429) included in freehold land and buildings. Finance 

lease liabilities are secured by the related assets held under finance leases. Future minimum lease payments at 31 
December were as follows:

                                                                                                                                 Minimum lease payments due
     Within 1 year  1 to 5 years After 5 years  Total 
     USD USD USD  USD
 
  31	December	2015
  Principal repayments  13 051 200 5 664 800 500 000 19 216 000
  Finance charges accrued  2 110 268 - - 2 110 268  
 
	 	 Total	 	 	 15	161	468	 5	664	800	 500	000	 21	326	268

	 	 31	December	2014
  Principal repayments   203 609 300 000 500 000 1 003 609
  Finance charges accrued   58 141 - - 58 141
 
  Total	 	 	 261	750	 300	000	 500	000	 1	061	750
     
   The lease agreements include fixed lease payments and a purchase option at the end of the lease term. The agreements 

are non-cancellable but do not contain any further restrictions.

   No contingent rents were recognised as an expense in the reporting periods under review, and no future sublease 
income is expected to be received as all assets are used exclusively by the Company.

       2015 2014
       USD USD

16 INvESTMENT PROPERTY

 Valuation at 1 January    3 700 000 3 700 000
 Fair value gains (included in other gains and losses)   - -

 At	31	December	 	 	 	 	 3	700	000	 3	700	000

 Investment property is comprised of as follows:
         Land situated at Lot 7 of Stand 2185, Salisbury Township Harare with 
       an administration building thereon.  
  
       Land situated at Stand 555, Bulawayo Township Bulawayo with an 
       administration building thereon.

 Note 32.1 sets out how the fair value of the investment properties has been determined.

 16.1 The following amount has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
  other comprehensive income:
 
  Rental income    336 303 301 232

  Investment property has been pledged as security for long term borrowings as more fully disclosed in note 26. There is a First 
Ranked Mortgage Bond over the Company’s immovable property.
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    2015  2014
    USD   USD 
       
17 INvESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

 Investments in associates (note 17.1)  231 148   446 205
 Investments in joint venture (note 17.2)  15 950 386  16 148 463

	 	 	 	 	 16	181	534	 	 16	594	668

 17.1 Investments in associates

  Carrying amount as at 1 January  446 205   897 168
  Share of loss   (215 057 )   (450 963 )
  Share of other comprehensive income  -    - 
  Dividends paid   -    -

  Carrying amount as at 31 December  231 138   446 205

    The Company holds a 49% voting and equity interest in Clay Products (Private) Limited. Hwange Colliery Company 
Limited also holds a 44% voting and equity interest in Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited. The investments are 
accounted for under the equity method.  

   The shares are not publicly listed on a stock exchange and hence published price quotes are not available. The 
aggregate amounts of certain financial information of the associates can be summarised as follows:

     Clay Products   Zimchem
   2015 2014 2015 2014
   USD USD USD USD
  
  Assets  2 709 733 2  860 843 3  306 213 4  373 685
  Liabilities  3 236 532 2  863 367 5  357 542 5  042 388
  Revenues  691 524 799 953 1 982 580 4 243 461
  Loss  (438 892) (920 334) (1 382 625) (610 039)
  (Loss)/Profit attributable to 
  Hwange Colliery Company Limited (215 057) (450 963) (608 355) (268 417)

   The Company did not recognise its share of losses for the year amounting to USD	608	355	(2014:	USD	268	417) for 
Zimchem  Refiners (Private) Limited as the share of cumulative losses exceed the carrying amount of the investment 
in the associate.

    Dividends are subject to the approval of at least 51% of all shareholders of the associates. The Company did not receive 
dividends during the 2015 and 2014 financial years.

   The Company has not incurred any contingent liabilities or other commitments relating to the investment in 
associates.     
   

   * Unaudited financial information for associates has been included in these financial statements as the audited 
financial information was not available.
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    2015  2014
    USD   USD 
       
17.2 Investment in joint venture      
        
 Carrying amount as at 1 January  16 148 463  16 821 287  
 Additional investment   -   -  
 Share of loss    (198 077 )  (672 824 ) 
 Dividends paid   -   -  
 
 Carrying amount as at 31 December  15 950 386  16 148 463 
 
  Hwange Coal Gasification Company (Private) Limited is the only jointly 
 controlled entity and the ultimate ownership interest is 25%. 
 Hwange Colliery Company Limited’s investment in the joint venture is 
 being acquired on a piecemeal basis. The investment in the joint venture 
 has been accounted for using the equity method.       
        
 The aggregate amounts relating to Hwange Coal Gasification Company
 are as follows:       
       
 Non-current assets  50 284 982  44 122 128  
 Current assets   36 102 567  32 390 230  
 
 Total assets   86 387 549  76 512 358 
 
 Non-current liabilities  26 687 951  26 687 951
 Current liabilities   5 626 568  4 860 579 
        
 Total liabilities   32 314 519  31 548 530 
 
 Revenue   15 842 798  19 351 841  
 Expenses   16 635 106  22 043 137  
 
 Loss after tax    (792 308)   (2 691 296) 
 
  *The financial statements of Hwange Coal Gasification Company (Private) Limited 
   were not available for inclusion in these financial statements.
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   Exploration  ERP 
   and  development 
   evaluation Mining and other
   asset rights software Total 
   USD USD USD USD

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
 2015
 Cost/ Gross carrying amount
 Balance at 1 January  - 200 000 2 028 630 2 228 630
 Additions  7 705 - - 7 705 
  
 Balance at 31 December  7 705 200 000 2 028 630 2 236 335

 Amortisation and impairment

 Balance at 1 January - - 638 589 638 589
 Amortisation  - 27 778 212 863  240 641
 Impairment losses (note 9) - - 118 734 118 734

 Balance at 31 December  - 27 778 970 186 997 964

 Carrying	amount	31	December		 	7	705	 172	222	 1	058	444	 1	238	371

 2014
 Cost/ Gross carrying amount
 Balance at 1 January  - 200 000 2 028 630 2 228 630
 Additions  - - - -

 Balance at 31 December - 200 000 2 028 630 2 228 630

 Amortisation and impairment
 Balance at 1 January - - 425 726 425 726
 Amortisation and impairment loss - - 212 863 212 863

 Balance at 31 December  - - 638 589 638 589

 Carrying	amount	31	December		 -	 200	000	 1	390	041	 1	590	041

  The Company acquired an enterprise resource planning (ERP) software to support the administration and control of the 
Company.  Some modules for mine planning and marketing are still to be developed. Mining rights comprise coal mining 
claims which are yet to be mined. No intangible assets have been pledged as security for liabilities.

 The Mitras hospital module and the Minescap module were impaired because they were not compatible with the system. 
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

	 18.1	 Mining	rights

    The Company was awarded three (3) year renewable Special Mining Grants by the Government of 
Zimbabwe on 31 July 2015. The Special Grants comprise of coal mining Concessions in the Western areas 
of Hwange town, Lubimbi East and Lubimbi West measuring  9 648 4 200 and 10 995 hectares of minable 
area respectively. These Concessions will increase the life of the mine by an estimated 50 years.

  The current mining leases in and around Hwange town area expire in 2049.     
       
       
     2015  2014
     USD   USD 
       
19 INvENTORY -NON CURRENT POSITION

 Balance at 1 January  25 735 845  30 200 876
 Additions to stockpiles  65 385  3 710 473
 Sales    (2 475 635 ) (8 175 504 )
    
     23 325 595  25 735 845

 Balance at end of year is classified as follows:
 Non-current assets   15 009 021   -
 Current assets (included in inventories)  8 316 574  25 735 845
   
     23 325 595  25 735 845

   The Company accumulated coal fines over the years for which an active market was
  identified  in 2009. During the year, some of the customers did not take up the 
 product as had been agreed in the signed contracts. As a result, coal fines in 
 excess of the average annual uptake of the producthave been reclassified to 
 non-current assets.

20 STRIPPING ACTIvITY ASSET      
 
 Balance at beginning of year  7 290 468  6 774 204 
 Current year pre-stripping costs  227 825  1 796 730 
 Costs charged to cost of sales   (2 668 474 ) (1 280 466 ) 
         
Balance at end of year   4 849 819  7 290 468 
         
Balance at end of year allocated as follows:      
 Non-current assets    -   - 
 Current assets   4 849 819  7 290 468 
         
Balance at end of year   4 849 819  7 290 468

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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    2015  2014
    USD   USD

21 INvENTORIES

 Raw materials / consumables  9 430 728  4 954 221 
 Finished goods  - Coal  8 447 093  8 547 081 
  - Coal fines (note 19)  8 316 574  25 735 845 
  - Coke  3 195 068  2 209 033 
        
    29 389 463  41 446 180

  During the year ended 31 December 2015, a total of USD	442	996	(2014:	USD	280	034) worth of inventories was included in 
profit and loss as an expense resulting from write down of inventories to net realisable value.     
       
No reversal of previous write-downs was recognised as a reduction of expense in 2015 or 2014.     
       
Coal products valued at USD	40	million have been pledged as security for long term borrowings as more fully disclosed in 
note	28.3.       
     

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES

 Trade receivables, gross  33 338 281  23 116 766  
 Allowance for credit losses  (9 751 845)   (7 743 731 ) 
  
 Trade receivables, net  23 586 436  15 373 035  
 Other receivables   8 301 181  22 411 510 
    
    31 887 617  37 784 545

 
  Trade receivables amounting to USD 15 million has been pledged as security for long term borrowings as more fully 

disclosed in note	28.3.      
       
All amounts are short-term. The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair 
value.       
       
All of the Company’s trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment. Certain trade receivables 
were found to be impaired and an increase in allowance for credit losses of USD	2	008	114		(2013:USD	1	346	703) has been 
recognised. The increase in allowance for credit losses is included within administration expenses. The impaired trade 
receivables are mostly due from customers that are experiencing financial difficulties.
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    2015  2014
    USD   USD 
       
22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES (CONTINUED)    
        
 The movement in the allowance for credit losses can be reconciled as follows:
 Balance 1 January  7 743 731  6 397 028
 Amounts written off (uncollectable)  -   -
 Impairment loss   2 008 114  1 346 703

 Balance 31 December  9 751 845  7 743 731

 23.2 Related party balances and transactions

   Included in the trade receivable and trade payable balances are related party balances that resulted from 
transactions that occurred between Hwange Colliery Company Limited and its related parties.   
   

     2015  2014
     USD   USD

  Related party receivables:
  Hwange Coal Gasification Company  3 723 581  4 488 482
  Clay Products (Private) Limited  53 289   53 889
  Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited  237 304   723 488
    
     4 014 174  5 265 859

  Related party payables:
  Hwange Coal Gasification Company  1 047 228  1 047 228
  Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited  322 696   322 696
   
     1 369 924  1 369 924

23 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

 23.1 Related party relationships

  The Company’s related parties include associates, joint ventures and key management as described below:

  Related party Relationship Nature of Transactions
  Hwange Coal Gasification Company Joint venture company Sale of goods  
  Clay Products (Private) Limited Associate company Sale of goods
  Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited Associate company Sale of goods 
  Executive Management Key management personnel Remuneration, loans and advances

   Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no guarantees were 
given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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23 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

 23.2 Related party balances and transactions (continued)

  Transactions with Hwange Coal Gasification Company (HCGC)
   HCCL sells coking coal to HCGC  in the ordinary course of business. During the year ended 31 December 2015, HCCL 

sold coking coking coal worth USD	3	099	930	(2014:	USD	5	532	486) to HCGC.

  Transactions with Clay Products (Private) Limited
   HCCL sells coal and coal products to Clay Products (Private) Limited in the ordinary course of business. During the 

year ended 31 December 2015, HCCL sold coal products worth  USD 6 765 (2014: USD 6 765) to Clay Products.

  Transactions with Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited
   HCCL sales coal and coal products to Zimchem Refineries (Private) Limited and purchases chemicals from the 

associate company in the ordinary course of business. During the year ended 31 December 2015, HCCL sold coal 
products worth  USD 147 21 (2014:	USD	204	135) to Zimchem Refineries.

 23.3 Transactions with key management personnel

   Key management of the Company are the executive members of HCCL’s board of directors and senior management 
personnel. Key management personnel’s remuneration includes the following expenses:

     2015  2014
     USD   USD 

  Short-term employee benefits:
   Salaries including bonuses  2 314 728  2 292 610
   Other benefits and allowances   717 706  1 370 134

     3 032 434  3 662 744

  Post-employment benefits:
   Defined contribution pension plans  231 473   234 994
     
  Total remuneration  3 263 907  3 897 738

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIvALENTS
  For the purposes of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
 include cash on hand and in banks net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

 Bank and cash balances   502 630   956 810
 Bank overdrafts   (36 653 ) (194 886 ) 

     465 977     761 924 

  Some bank deposits and overdrafts held with Trust bank and Allied bank were not available for general use because 
of financial difficulties the banks faced. Cash and cash equivalents amounting to USD	694	189 and USD	112	048 were 
reclassified to other receivables and other payables respectively.

 The bank overdrafts are unsecured. The interest rate ranges between 7 % to 9 % per annum.
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     2015  2014
     USD   USD 
       
25 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERvES

 25.1 Authorised

  204 000 000 Ordinary shares of USD0.25 each  51 000 000  51 000 000

  Issued and fully paid

  110 237 432 Ordinary shares of USD0.25 each   27 559 358  27 559 358
  4 404 850 Ordinary shares issued under share option scheme  1 514 039  1 514 039
  67 557 568 ‘’A’’ Ordinary shares of USD0.25 each  16 889 392  16 889 392
 
     45 962 789  45 962 789

 25.2 Share premium

  Balance at 1 January  577 956  577 956
  Movements during the year  -   -

  Balance at 31 December  577 956  577 956
       
  The share premium is as a result of employee share options exercised in 
  2012 and 2013.

	 25.3	 Non-distributable	reserve

  Balance at 1 January  4 358 468  4 358 468
  Transfer within the reserves  -   -

  Balance at 31 December  4 358 468  4 358 468
       
  The non-distributable is attributable to the net effect of the restatement of 
  assets and liabilities previously denominated in Zimbabwean dollars on 
  21 January 2009. The assets and liabilities were restated to the United 
  States Dollars using the guidance issued by the Public Accountants and 
  Auditors Board and Zimbabwe Stock Exchange in 2009.

 25.4 Revaluation reserve

  Balance at 1 January  39 948 518  39 948 518
  Movements during the year  -   -

  Balance at 31 December  39 948 518  39 948 518

   The revaluation reserve is attributable to the revaluation of the Company’s
  freehold land and buildings perfomed by CB Richard Ellis on 30 June 2011 
  on a net replacement basis.
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERvES (CONTINUED)

 25.5 Employee share option scheme

   As at 31 December 2015, the Company maintained an employee share option scheme known as the “Hwange Colliery 
Company Limited Share Option Scheme.”  The scheme is designed to attract and retain employees. Share options 
under this scheme are allocated annually to employees if a specified period of service has been completed. The 
period of service ranges from 1 to 5 years depending on the employee’s grade. Upon vesting, each option allows the 
holder to purchase ordinary shares at a discount of 80% of the market price determined at grant date. 

   During the year ended 31 December 2015 nil (2014 :	 1	 980	 875) shares were allocated to employees under the 
employee share option scheme. 

 25.6 Directors’ interests

   At 31 December 2015, the current Directors did not hold any beneficial and non-beneficial ordinary shares in the 
Company.

 25.7 Borrowing powers

   In terms of the Articles of Association paragraph 60, registered with the Registrar of Companies on 21 April 1992,   
 the total borrowing powers of the company may not, without the sanction of a General Meeting, exceed an amount  
 equal to three (3) times the aggregate of the nominal amount of the issued and paid up capital and the capital and  
 revenue reserves of the company. 

  As at 31 December 2015, total borrowings amounted to USD	51	111	096  exceeded the said limit by USD	51	111	096.

  The Company  failed to comply with the borrowing powers in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.
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26   DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
  
  Remuneration of the Company’s directors’ disclosed is pursuant to Section 8.63(l) of the JSE Listing requirements. The 

directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31  December 2015 was as follows:

  
 Executive Director
 Mr. S. T. Makore - Managing Director 
 (Appointed 1 June 2014) 247 104 25 298 82 425 354 827 197 953
 Mr. J. Chininga (Acting Managing Director : 
 1 January to 30 June 2014) -   -   -  -  156 646
   
   247 104  25 298 82 425  354 827  354 599

	 Non-executive
 Directors       
   
 Mr. F. Mutamangira 
 (Chairman)  24 480 2 000 -  -     -     250 6 425 33 155 62 490
 (Resigned 09 October 2015)         
 Mr. S. Chibanguza
 (Resigned 29 February 2016) 20 640 4 000 250     1 000 500 - 11 536 37 926 34 460
 Mr. J. Chininga 
 Acting Chairman
 (Resigned 19 May 2016) 20 640 4 000 1 000 250 250 1 000 10 960 38 100   32 558
 Mr. I. Haruperi
 (Resigned 29 February 2016)  24 000 3 000 - 500 1 000  - 11 536 40 036 45 818
 Mr. N. Jiyane 
 (Retired 30 June 2014) - - - - - - - - 31 292
 Mrs. J. Muskwe 20 640 4 000 250 250 250  1 000 11 256 37 646 37 528
 Mr. V. Vera 24 000 4 000  750  - - 1 000 11 536 41 286 45 608
 Mr. L. Nkomo - - - - - - - - 26 798
  
  134	400	 21	000	 		2	250	 		2	000	 		2	000	 		3	250	 63	249	 228	149	 316	552

Fees
USD

Board
meetings

USD

Audit
commitee

USD

Human
resources
commitee

USD

Marketing
commitee

USD

Technical
commitee

USD
Other

USD

2015
Total
USD

2014
Total
USD

Salary
USD

Retirement
and medical

contributions
USD

Other benefits
and allowances

USD

2015
Total
USD

2014
Total
USD

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015



77H w a n g e  C o l l i e r y  C o m p a n y  L i m i t e d  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 5

N
OT

ES
 T

O
 T

H
E 

FI
N

AN
CI

AL
 S

TA
TE

M
EN

TS

       
	 	 	 	 	 2015	 	 2014
     USD   USD 
       
27 FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY

 Non current   3 834 644   800 000
 Current    17 491 624   261 570

     21 326 268  1 061 570
 The finance lease liability carrying amount is disclosed as follows:

 27.1 OK Zimbabwe

  Long term portion   700 000   800 000
  Less: Short term portion  414 756  261 570

     1 114 756  1 061 570
  Finance lease liability
  Principal   1 000 000  1 000 000
  Accrued interest  114 756   61 570

     1 114 756  1 061 570
  This OK Zimbabwe lease is a Build Operate and Transfer agreement for the 
  establishment of a supermarket building which OK Zimbabwe funded the 
  construction of the building for its own occupation for a period of nine years 
  and eleven months. The estimated cost of construction is USD	1	000	000 
  and the interest rate is 10 % per annum.

 27.2 The Eastern and Southern African Trade and Development Bank (PTA)

  Long term portion  3 134 644   -
  Short term portion  15 081 356   -

  Total   18 216 000   -

  Principal   18 216 000   -
  Interest   1 995 512   -

     20 211 512   -

   This is a lease of Belaz coal mining equipment amounting to USD	18	216	000 to the Company by PTA Bank over a 
three (3) year period. Interest is charged at  LIBOR + 9% p.a. The loan is securitised by the following:

   i)  A First Ranked Mortgage Bond over the Company’s immovable property known as Coal House situated at 17 
Nelson Mandela Avenue, Harare;

   ii) A First Ranked Mortgage Bond over the Company’s immovable property known as Coal House situated at 95 
Robert Mugabe Street, Bulawayo;

  iii) A First Ranked Notarial General Covering Bond on the Company’s movable assets both present and future
  iv) Proceeds of the Off Take Agreements which shall be paid to the Collection Agent; and
   v) An insurance policy covering fire, burglary, and flood in respect of all the goods, secured property, and 

comprehensive motor insurance in respect of vehicles and assets of the Company for the duration of the lease.
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     2015  2014
     USD   USD 
       
28 BORROWINGS

	 28.1	 Long	term	loans

  Zimbabwe Asset Management Corporation (ZAMCO)  14 868 435   -
  Export Import Bank of India (EXIM)  12 879 740   -
  BanAbc*   10 595 227  10 595 227

     38 343 402  10 595 227

  less   - current portion of long term loans  (1 923 816 ) (10 595 227 )
                     - BanAbc loan restructured   (10 595 227 ) -

     25 824 359   -

	 28.2	 Short	term	loans

  Overdrafts   36 653  194 886
  Agribank   2 000 000   -
  Add current portion of long term loans  1 923 816  10 595 227

     3 960 469  10 790 113

	 28.3	 Borrowing	terms

  Export Import Bank of India (EXIM)
    This is a USD	12	879	740 loan guaranteed by the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe, taken for the purposes of financing the 

purchase of coal mining equipment. Interest is charged at a rate of LIBOR + 3.5 % p.a.

  Zimbabwe Asset Management Corporation (ZAMCO)
   *Zimbabwe Asset Management Corporation (ZAMCO) took over USD	14	868	435 (principal and interest) outstanding 

on the  BancABC loan on 1 September 2015 in a debt restructuring exercise. The principal will be repaid, subject to 
a grace period of six(6) months, on a reducing balance basis by minimum quarterly instalments of USD 641 271.96. 
The interest is charged at the rate of 7% per annum on the daily debit balance and compounded quarterly and 
subject to a grace period of three(3) months, shall be paid in consecutive quarterly installments.

  The loan amounts outstanding to ZAMCO are securitised by the following:
  i) Notarial General Covering Bond incorporating Cession of Book Debts for USD	15	000	000 Number 3878/2013;
  ii) Stocks valued at USD	40	000	000;
  iii) Cession of charge over machinery amounting to USD	15	000	000; and
  iv) Assignment of debtors.

  Agribank
   This a USD	2	000	000 short term loan raised for working capital purposes. Interest is charged at 18% per annum and 

the facility expires on 30 September 2016. The facility is securitised by a negative pledge of assets and assignment 
of proceeds from various suppliers in a ring fencing arrangement.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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     2015  2014
     USD   USD 
       
29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Trade    127 836 638  106 604 119
 Other    114 031 320  80 878 680
    
     241 505 888  187 482 799
30	 Provisions       
  
 Provision for rehabilitation (note 30.1)  5 726 693  4 893 360 
 Other provisions (note 30.2)  8 538 684  5 955 363 
     
     14 265 377  10 848 723 
 
	 30.1	 Provision	for	rehabilitation	      
  
  At 1 January   4 893 360  3 893 360 
  Charged to profit or loss:      
  Additional provisions made during the year  833 333  1 000 000
  Amounts used during the year   -    -  
         
  At 31 December   5 726 693  4 893 360 
         
    The Company has an obligation to undertake rehabilitation and 
  restoration when environmental disturbance is caused by the ongoing 
  mining activities. The provision for rehabilitation costs recognised in these 
  financial statements relates to previously mined areas.      
  
   The rehabilitation provision included in the financial statements is an 
  estimate of the cost that will be incurred for the rehabilitation and 
  restoration of the environment. The Directors are aware of the Company’s 
  responsibility for the rehabilitation and restoration of the environment and 
  have come up with an estimate of the costs that would be incurred to 
  rehabilitate and restore the mined areas.      
   
	 30.2	 Other	provisions	      
  
  Death benefits  3 267 913  2 491 991
  Leave pay and bonus provisions  5 270 771  3 463 372
    
     8 538 684  5 955 363
31 CURRENT TAX LIABILITY      
 
 Balance at 1 January   403 500   403 500
 Movement   9 651 350   - 
         
 Balance at 31 December  10 054 850   403 500
 
  The movement in current tax liability is attributable to the ZIMRA tax assessment concluded on 27 November 2015 which 

resulted in the Company being charged income tax of	USD	9	651	350. The amount is included in  the USD	USD	28	491	916	
ZIMRA liability recognised under administration costs.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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32 FAIR vALUE MEASUREMENT

	 32.1	 Fair	value	measurement	of	non-financial	assets

   The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a    
 recurring basis at 31 December 2015:

  31	December	2015	 Level	1	 Level	2		 	 Level	3		 	 	 	Total	
     USD  USD  USD    USD

  Investment property:
  Land situated in Harare with 
  an administration building. 2  985 000  -  -   2  985 000
  Land situated in Bulawayo
   with an administration building. 660 000 -  -    660 000
  Land situated in Bulawayo
   with a residential building. 30 000 -  -    30 000  
  Land situated in Bulawayo
  with a residential building. 25 000  -  -   25 000

  31	December	2014	 	Level	1		 Level	2		 	 Level	3		 			 Total
    USD USD  USD    USD

  Investment property:
  Land situated in Harare with 
  an administration building. 2  985 000 -  -   2  985 000  
  Land situated in Bulawayo 
  with an administration building.   660 000 -  -   660 000  
  Land situated in Bulawayo with 
  a residential building.   30 000  -  -   30 000  
  Land situated in Bulawayo
   with a residential building.   25 000  -  -   25  000  
 
    The investment properties were last valued  on 31 December 2010 at fair value by Messrs CB Richard Ellis, an 

independent, professionally qualified valuer.  The fair value was determined based on current prices in an active 
market for similar property in the same location and condition. Management determined that the effect of changes 
in fair values between the acquisition and reporting date is immaterial.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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33 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

  Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 33.1 Accounting judgements

  Current and deferred tax
   The Company is subject to income tax; significant judgment is required in determining the provision.  There are 

many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax assessment based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

    Where the actual final outcome (on the judgment areas) differs from management estimates, the Company will need 
to increase the income and deferred tax liability if unfavourable or decrease the income and deferred tax liability if 
favourable.

 33.2 Accounting estimates and assumptions

   The Company makes assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates  will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed 
below: 

  Property,	plant	and	equipment.
   Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives taking into account residual 

values where appropriate. The useful lives and the residual values are re-assessed annually and may vary due to 
factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes in place.

34 GOING CONCERN

  The Company is experiencing the following challenges which have an effect on its ability to continue operating as a going 
concern:       
  

 34.1 Gross loss and net loss for the year      
  
   The Company incurred a gross loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 of USD 33 769 745 (2014:	USD	8	954	

300) and a loss for the year of USD	115	056	773	(2014 : USD	37	865	885). This was attributable to a reduction in the 
production volumes from 1 802 362 tonnes in 2014 to 1 557 567 tonnes in 2015 on the backdrop of high fixed overheads 
associated with the Company’s operations. The losses were also a result of challenges experienced with the new 
equipment commissioned in July 2015 resulting in an increase in direct costs of production without a corresponding 
increase in output. 

 34.2 Negative equity      
  
   As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s total liabilities exceeded total assets resulting in a negative equity position 

of  USD	77	834	232. This was attributable to recurring losses which eroded the capital and reserves and the ZIMRA 
obligation of USD	28	141	192, which was confirmed as being a liability on 27 November 2015.  

 34.3 Litigation cases      
  
  The Company had litigation claims brought against it during the year ended 31 December 2015 as follows:   
 
     2015  2014
     USD  USD
 
  Value of cases for which judgement has been passed against the Company* 21 297 555  25 913 125
  Value of cases pending judgement at the courts  21 276 848  21 033 375
 
  Total value of litigation cases  42 574 403  46 946 500

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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34 GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

 34.3 Litigation cases 
  
   *At the time of reporting, the amounts outstanding in respect of cases for which judgement has been passed are 
  USD 21 331 613.      
  
   The litigation cases include a court application by the employee representatives to have the Company placed under  

 judicial management. The Directors are of the view that the filed opposing affidavits will be successful.

 34.4 Debt/lease covenants not met      
  
   As part of the ZAMCO loan agreement, the Company was obliged to insure all its movable assets and stocks valued at 

USD	15	000	000	as part of collateral for the loan of USD	14	868	435. The Company has not been able to insure these 
assets due to liquidity constraints.      
  

   The Company has been facing challenges in meeting scheduled repayments on loans and leases owing to liquidity 
challenges.       
 

 34.5 Low machine availability      
  
   The Company acquired mining equipment worth USD	12	879	740  from BEML, a Company incorporated in India, 

which was commissioned in July 2015. The Company experienced low machine availability mainly as a result of 
technical challenges faced in operating the equipment.

   In view of the above, the Directors have assessed the ability of the Company to continue to operate as a going concern 
and are of the view that the preparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is appropriate as 
supported by the following plans which are intended to address these challenges:     
    

  Rights issue      
   
   The Company is pursuing a rights issue as part of both capital raising and balance sheet restructuring. This rights 

issue will be fully underwritten by the Government of Zimbabwe to the extent of USD	69	100	000. The Directors believe 
that if approved by the Shareholders, the rights issue will result in a debt to equity swap of USD	69	100	000 in relation 
to the ZIMRA liability. The proposed transaction is also expected  to result in a cash injection of USD	39	400	000 if all 
existing shareholders exercise their rights.      
       
Settlement of creditors through issuance of debt instruments      
   

   Given the strategic importance of Hwange Colliery Company Limited as regards to power generation, one of the 
major Shareholders has pledged to offer continued support to the Company. To this end, a debt restructuring plan 
has been put in place which is expected to result in the issuance of debt instruments with an extended tenure by the 
Central Bank. The debt instruments will be issued to existing creditors as part of settlement of outstanding amounts. 
The Directors believe that the arrangement will result in the rescheduling of immediate obligations into the long 
term, an effort that will allow the Company to focus on increasing its production.     
    

  Working capital facility of USD7.5 million      
   
   The Company has entered into a prefinancing arrangement of USD 7.5 million with one of its major customers for the 

supply of coal. The funds raised will  be channelled towards production and this is  expected to increase production 
to a monthly average of 350 000 tonnes from July 2016.      
  

  Review of contractor pricing      
   
   The Directors have initiated negotiations with major contractors to reduce charges. This is expected to result in a 

reduction in the cost of sales as well as improving product profitability.     
    

  Extension of warranty period on BEML equipment      
   
   The Directors and management engaged BEML and negotiated for a warranty extension by a further six (6) months or 

1 000 hours on the equipment. As the Company implements the new production configuration, the BEML excavators 
will be tested under full load and capacity for a period of one (1) month. 

  Equipment refurbishment      
   
   The Directors are sourcing approximately USD 6.3 million to refurbish the continuous miner, shuttle cars and other 

equipment necessary for the underground mining operations. The continuous miner broke down in August 2015 and 
Directors believe that the resumption of the underground mining operations will add high value coal and coke to the 
Company’s product mix.This refurbishment exercise is expected to be completed by July 2016.   
      

         
  Restructuring of Company’s management      
   
   The Directors have approved the adoption of a leaner management structure with fewer levels of hierarchy in the 

second quarter of 2016. In addition, board fees and management salaries will be reduced by 50% effective April 2016. 
This initiative is expected to reduce monthly costs by at least USD	300	000.     
      

  As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Company will continue to operate as a going concern and that  the realisation of 
assets and the settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course of business. These financial statements have therefore 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

	 31	December	2015	 	 Financial	assets
   Loans and at fair value through
 Assets as per statement of financial position receivables profit or loss  Total
   USD  USD   USD 

 Trade and other receivables 31 887 617 -  31 887 617
 Cash and cash equivalents 465 977  -  465 977

 Total		 	 32	353	594	 	-	 	 32	353	594

   Financial Other
   liabilities at fair financial
   value through liabilities at
 Liabilities as per statement of financial position profit or loss amortised cost  Total
   USD USD  USD

 Borrowings (excluding finance lease liabilities) - 29 784 828  29 784 828
 Finance lease liabilities  -    21 326 268  21 326 268
 Trade and other payables  -    241 505 888  241 505 888

 Total	 	 	-	 292	616	984	 	 292	616	984

	 31	December	2014			 	 Financial	
    assets at fair 
   Loans and  value through
 Assets as per statement of financial position receivables profit or loss  Total
   USD  USD   USD 

 Trade and other receivables 37 784 545 -   37 784 545
 Cash and cash equivalents 761 924  -  761 924
 
 Total	 	 38	546	469	 	-			 38	546	469

   Financial Other  
   liabilities at fair financial 
   value through liabilities at
 Liabilities as per statement of financial position profit or loss amortised cost  Total
   USD USD  USD

 Borrowings (excluding finance lease liabilities)  - 10 790 113  10 790 113
 Finance lease liabilities -  1 061 570  1 061 570
 Trade and other payables  - 187 482 799  187 482 799

 Total	 	 	-	 199	334	482	 	 199	334	482

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIvES AND POLICIES
   
  The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise finance lease liabilities, loans payable, bank overdrafts and trade 

payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Company’s operations.  The Company 
has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short term deposits, which arise directly from its 
operations.  Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risk arises in the normal course of Company’s business and these 
are main risks arising from the Company`s financial instruments.

 The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below:

 36.1 Credit risk

    Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis. The 
Company assumes foreign credit risk only on customers approved by the Board and follows credit review procedures 
for local credit customers.

   Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with approved financial institutions.  At the reporting date 
there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amounts of each financial asset in the statement of financial position.

 36.2 Interest rate risk 

    The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s long and 
short term debt obligations and bank overdrafts. The Company’s policy is to manage its interest cost using fixed rate 
debts.

 36.3 Currency risk

   The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the 
United States Dollar. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the South African Rand.

   In respect of all monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the United States Dollar, the Company 
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates 
where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

  The Company’s exposure to foreign currency changes is not significant.

 36.4 Liquidity risk

   Liquidity risk is that the Company might be unable to meet its obligations. The Company manages its 
liquidity needs by monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as 
well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business. The data used for analysing 
these cash flows is consistent with that used in the contractual maturity analysis below. Liquidity needs 
are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis 
of a rolling 30-day projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 180-day and a 360-day lookout period 
are identified monthly. Net cash requirements are compared to available borrowing facilities in order 
to determine headroom or any shortfalls. This analysis shows that available borrowing facilities are 
expected to be sufficient over the lookout period.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIvES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 36.4 Liquidity risk (continued)
  
   The Company’s objective is to maintain cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements 

for 30-day periods at a minimum. This objective was not adequately met for the reporting periods. Funding 
for long-term liquidity needs is not readily available on the market due to tight liquidity on the local and 
regional financial markets.

   The Company considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity 
risk, in particular its cash resources and trade receivables. The Company’s existing cash resources and 
trade receivables do not exceed the current cash outflow requirements. Cash flows from trade and other 
receivables are all collectible within six months and trade and other payables are contractually due 
within six months. 

   The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at the year end 
based on contractual undiscounted payments.      
 

    Current  Non current
        Later than 5 years
    within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years   Years
    USD USD USD   USD

	 	 At	31	December	2015
  Bank overdraft  36 653  -     -       -   
  trade and other payables 241 505 888 -  -     -   
  Finance lease liabilities 17 491 624  -    3 834 644    -   
  Loans payable 3 960 469 - 25 824 359    - 
 
    262	994	634	 	-		 29	659	003	 			 -	

	 	 At	31	December	2014
  Bank overdraft  194 886 -    -    -   
  Trade and other payables 187 482 799  -     -    -   
  Finance lease liabilities  50 000 50 000  400 000    500 000
  Loans payable 14 490 089  -   -     -   

    202	217	774	 50	000	 400	000	 			 500	000

37 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURE

  The Company’s capital management objectives are designed to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk. 
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of debt finance as a portion of the Company’s total 
debt plus equity finance as presented on the face of the statement of financial position. Management’s goal in capital 
management is to maintain a debt capital-to-overall financing ratio of 1 : 2. This is in line with the Company’s covenants 
resulting from the debt finances it has taken out.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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37 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURE (CONTINUED)
  
  The Company sets the amount of debt capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity and financial 

liabilities. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

 Capital for the reporting period under review is summarised as follows:

   2015  2014
   USD  USD

 Debt capital  51 111 096  11 851 683

 Equity capital   (77 834 232 ) 37 222 541
 Debt capital  51 111 096  11 851 683
 
 Overall financing (debt + equity)  (26 723 136 ) 49 074 224
 
 Debt capital-to-overall financing ratio -1.21:1  0.24:1

38 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

	 38.1	 	Significant	litigation	cases

  The following cases have been included in the value of cases pending judgement at the courts in note 34 above:

  Former employees
   The Company is being sued by the former employees to the amount of USD	1	970	348 for unlawful termination of 

employment and unfair labour practices. 

37 EvENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

 Management restructuring

  Subsequent to year end, the Company implemented a restructuring plan that entailed the adoption of a leaner management 
structure with fewer levels of hierarchy.  This was part of the process to rationalise staff costs as described in note 34. The 
following changes took place after reporting date:

 Directorship changes 
 
 Resignations
 The following Directors resigned from the Board:

 J. Chininga  13 May 2016
 I. C. Haruperi  29 February 2016
 S. H. Chibhanguza 29 February 2016

 Appointments
  The following Non Executive Directors were appointed to the Board on 13 May 2016, subject to at its confirmation the Annual 

General meeting:

 W. Chitando   (Board Chairman)
 W. T. Kutekwatekwa
 N. Masuku (Mrs.)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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Five Year Record

    
   12 Months  12 Months 12 Months 12 Months 12 Months
   December December December December December 
	 	 	 2015	 2014	 2013	 2012	 2011

     
SHARE PERFORMANCE                    
Shares in issue   182 199 850   182 199 850   182 199 850   182 199 850   182 199 850 
Net asset value per share (US cents)  (26)  21   47   72   70 
Earnings per share (US cents)  (0.20)  (0)  (0)  0   0 
Return on shareholders’ funds  (0.43)  (20)  (17)  2   4 
Share price at 31 December (US cents) 3 5   7   17   30 
Number of shareholders   4 332   4 358    4 401   2 291   2 337 
     
RESULTS     
Turnover (USD)   67 576 220   83 918 846   71 540 667   104 277 375   107 895 986 
(Loss)/ profit after tax (USD)  (115 056 773)  (37 865 885)  (30 864 327)  3 131 216   3 902 262 
     
SALES     
Coal tonnes   1 504 400   1 706 798   1 519 677   1 800 990   2 456 743 
Coke tonnes   53 874   79 708   82 510   108 408   115 554 

Tar - kgs  - - -  4 352 820  -
Benzole products - litres  - - - - -
Coke oven gas - normal cubic metres - - - - -
     
FINANCIAL RATIOS     
Issued share capital (USD) 45 962 789  45 962 789   45 962 789   45 928 393   45 549 963 
Total reserves (USD)   (124 374 977)  (9 318 204)  29 125 637   60 691 510   57 030 492 
Shareholders’ equity (USD)  (77 834 232)  37 222 541   75 088 426   106 619 903   102 580 455 

Deferred taxation (USD)  0  -     9 132 289   24 340 136   23 561 518 
Long term liabilities (USD) 29 659 003  800 000   900 000   -     1 469 468 
     
Total funds employed (USD)  (78 412 188)  37 895 365   84 970 415   130 960 039   126 141 973 
     
Current assets to current liabilities 0.23:1  0.42:1   0.52:1   0.83:1   0.71:1 
Acid test (current assets excluding 
inventory and stripping activity asset) 0.11:1  0.18:1   0.22:1   0.39:1   0.30:1 
     
Long and medium term liabilities as a      
percentage of shareholders’ equity (%) -38% 211% 119% 0% 143%
     
Number of employees  2 683  2 614   3 194   3 194 -
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Shareholder Analysis
As at 31 December 2015

Rank Names Tax Industry Shares Percentage

1 GOVERNMENT OF ZIMBABWE GOV GOV 67 555 968 36.77

2 MESSINA INVESTMENTS LIMITED (NNR) FC FC 30 249 186 16.46

3 MITTAL STEEL AFRICAN INVESTMENTS FC FC 17 777 034 9.68

4 LONDON REGISTER EXE LC 13 262 591 7.22

5 NATIONAL  SOCIAL    SECURITY   AUTHORITY LR LR 11 445 761 6.23

6 HAMILTON & HAMILTON TRUSTEES LTD-NNR FC FC 9 415 970 5.13

7 JOHANNESBURG REGISTER FN FN 3 524 905 1.92

8 HAMILTON-NNR NICHOLAS  RHODES NNR NNR 2 865 346 1.56

9 LOCAL AUTHORITIES PENSION FUND PF PF 1 854 571 1.01

10 TANRANGE  NO 1 LC LC 1 035 332 0.56

11 GURAMATUNHU   FAMILY  TRUST CT CT 1 008 458 0.55

12 HAMILTON ALEXANDER SETH LR LR 1 000 000 0.54

13 HAMILTON MAXMILIAN RHETT LR LR 1 000 000 0.54

14 HAMILTON ORRIE LINCOLN LR LR 1 000 000 0.54

15 HAMILTON RICHMOND LOUIS LR LR 1 000 000 0.54

16 HAMILTON EUGENIE BRITANNIA LR LR 1 000 000 0.54

17 TANVEST (PRIVATE) LIMITED LC LC 689 616 0.38

18 MOYO NEPSON TAX LR 444 275 0.24

19 JINDAL  STEEL AND  POWER (MAURITIUS) LTD-NNR NNR NNR 440 680 0.24

20 OLD  MUTUAL LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY ZIMBABWE LIMITED EXE INS 437 280 0.24

     

 Selected Shares   167 006 973 91

 Non - Selected Shares   16 713 726 09

 

 Issued Shares   183 720 699 100

TOP	20	SHAREHOLDERS

ANALYSIS BY VOLUME:   

Range  Shares Shares % Shareholders Shareholders %

1-5000  4 546 078 2.47 3 836 88.55

5001-10000 1 890 168 1.03 246 5.68

10001-25000 2 159 150 1.18 134 3.09

25001-50000 1 449 136 0.79 39 0.9

50001-100001 2 016 448 1.1 27 0.62

100001-200000 2 484 583 1.35 17 0.39

200001-500000 5 032 692 2.74 15 0.35

500001-1000000 6 776 466 3.69 08 0.18

1000001 and Above 157 365 978 85.66 10 0.23

Totals  183 720 699 100 4 332 100
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ANALYSIS BY DOMICILE : 
Country Shares Shares % Shareholders Shareholders %

ZIMBABWE 103 976 252 56.59 4 008 92.52
UNITED KINGDOM 56 239 703 30.61 47 1.08
MAURITIUS 17 777 034 9.68 01 0.02
SOUTH AFRICA 3 815 616 2.08 55 1.27
WARRANT NOT PRESENTABLE 1 192 130 0.65 175 4.04
USA   417 289 0.23 10 0.23
AUSTRALIA 118 343 0.06 12 0.28
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES 82 830 0.05 01 0.02
ZAMBIA  29 660 0.02 05 0.12
NEW ZEALAND 19 600 0.01 02 0.05
CANADA  17 790 0.01 05 0.12
SPAIN   14 080 0.01 02 0.05
NETHERLANDS 6 400 0 01 0.02
NAMIBIA  4 000 0 01 0.02
UNALLOCATED FOREIGN 3 332 0 01 0.02
SWAZILAND 2 400 0 01 0.02
IRELAND  REPUBLIC OF 1 600 0 01 0.02
BOTSWANA 1 000 0 01 0.02
SWEDEN  1 000 0 01 0.02
CAYMAN ISLANDS 600 0 01 0.02
SWITZERLAND 40 0 01 0.02

Totals   183 720 699 100 4 332 100

ANALYSIS BY INDUSTRY : 
Industry Shares Shares % Shareholders Shareholders %

GOVERNMENT / QUASI 67 555 968 36.77 01 0.02
FOREIGN COMPANIES 57 749 701 31.43 06 0.14
NEW NON RESIDENT 20 179 742 10.98 127 2.93
PENSION FUNDS 14 441 996 7.86 26 0.6
LOCAL INDIVIDUAL RESIDENT 13 165 890 7.17 1 708 39.43
LOCAL COMPANIES 5 303 548 2.89 175 4.04
EMPLOYEES 1 571 804 0.86 2 121 48.96
CHARITABLE AND TRUSTS 1 150 566 0.63 27 0.62
FOREIGN NOMINEE 865 435 0.47 10 0.23
LOCAL NOMINEE 623 585 0.34 66 1.52
INSURANCE COMPANIES 459 080 0.25 04 0.09
FUND MANAGERS 303 926 0.17 14 0.32
OTHER INVESTMENTS & TRUST 188 461 0.1 13 0.3
DECEASED ESTATES 126 497 0.07 32 0.74
BANKS  34 500 0.02 02 0.05

Totals   183 720 699 100 4 332 100

Shareholder Analysis
As at 31 December 2015
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Notice is hereby given that the ninety third (93rd) Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Shareholders of Hwange Colliery 
Company Limited will be held in the Sango Conference Center, Cresta Lodge, Cnr Mutare and Robert Mugabe Roads, 
Harare on Thursday 30 June 2016 at 10:30 am for the following business:

1. ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.1.  To receive and consider the audited accounts and the reports of the directors and of the auditors for the year 
ended 31 December 2015.

1.2.  To re-elect directors who are retiring in terms of the Articles of Association. Mrs J. Muskwe retires by rotation at 
the Annual General Meeting.  The retiring Director being eligible offers herself for re-election. Her brief resume 
is on pages 27 of the 2015 annual report.

1.3.  To approve the Directors’ fees for the year ended 31 December 2015.

1.4. To approve the remuneration of the auditors for the year ended 31 December 2015.

1.5. To elect auditors of the Company, Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) for the ensuing year.

2. OTHER BUSINESS
 
 To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

3. PROXY/IES

3.1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint any person or persons to speak and vote in his/
her place.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  Proxy forms are attached to this Annual Report and 
must be lodged with the Secretary at the registered office in Harare not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

3.2.  Members may wish to raise any questions regarding the financial affairs of the Company at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.  The Board of Directors will endeavour to provide meaningful and considered responses 
to such questions.  In order to facilitate this, members are requested to lodge any questions in writing at the 
registered office of the Company, not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time scheduled for the holding 
of the Annual General Meeting.  However, members will still have the right to ask verbal questions during the 
meeting, at the appropriate time.

By order of the Board

ALLEN MASIYA  
ACTING COMPANY SECRETARY
26 March 2015

Notice to Members
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YNotice is hereby given that the ninety third (93rd) Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Shareholders of Hwange Colliery Company 

Limited will be held at the Chapman Golf Club, 1 Henry Chapman Road, Eastlea, Harare on Thursday 30 June 2016 at 10:30 am.

The Secretary  or by post to 
Hwange Colliery Company Limited The Secretary
7th Floor, Coal House Hwange Colliery Company Limited 
17 Nelson Mandela Avenue P O Box 2870
HARARE  HARARE
Zimbabwe  Zimbabwe

I/We __________________________________________________________________of ______________________________________

_______________________________________________________ being the registered holders of _____________________shares 
in Hwange Colliery Company  Limited do hereby appoint:-
1.___________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her,
2.___________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual 
General Meeting as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the ninety third (93rd) Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Shareholders 
of Hwange Colliery Company Limited to be held at the Chapman Golf Club, 1 Henry Chapman Road, Eastlea, Harare on Thursday 
30 June 2016 at 10:30 am. and at any adjournment thereof and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf or to abstain from voting as 
indicated below:

   FOR AGAINST  ABSTAIN
Ordinary Business
1. Adoption of 2015 audited financial statements 
2. Re-appointment of Directors
 Winston Chitando
 Wencelaus T. Kutekwatekwa
 Ntombizodwa Masuku (Mrs)
3. Approve Directors’ fees – 2015
4. Approve remuneration of auditors – 2015
5. Elect auditors for the ensuing year.
 

Signature                            Date 

Notes of Proxy Form

NOTES 
1.  A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote may insert the name/s of one or more proxy/ies or the names of two alternative 

proxies of the Shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman of the Annual General 
Meeting”.  Any such proxy, the proxy will be exercised by the chairman of the meeting.

2.  The person whose name appears first on the proxy form and is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the 
exclusion of those whose names follow.

3.  A proxy is entitled to one vote by a show of hands by a poll one vote in respect of each share held. A Shareholder’s instructions 
to the proxy must be indicated in the appropriate space.

4.  If a Shareholder does not indicate on this interment that his proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or abstain 
from voting or gives contradictory instructions or should any further resolutions or any amendment/s which may be properly 
put before the Annual General Meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

5. Any alteration or correction made to this form must be initialized by the signatory/ies.
6.  The completion and lodging of this form will not preclude a Shareholder from attending the Annual general Meeting and 

speaking and voting in person thereat, to the exclusion of any proxy/ies appointed in terms hereof, should such Shareholder 
wish to do so.  

7.  Forms of proxy must be lodged with or posted to the Secretary, Hwange Colliery Company Limited, to be received no later 
than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

8.  The Chairman of the meeting may accept or reject any proxy form which is completed and/or received other than in 
accordance with these instructions.

CHANGE OF ADDRESS
If the address on the envelop of this letter is incorrect or has changed, please fill in the correct details below and return to the 
Secretary.

NAME __________________________________________________________________________

ADDRESS _______________________________________________________________________

Form of Proxy

HWANGE


